General Research Series PAPER NO. 163 FEBRUARY, 1994

MALE-FEMALE WAGE DIFFERENTIALS: ANALYSIS AND POLICY ISSUES

Tim Callan and Anne Wren



THE ECONOMIC & SOCIAL RESEARCH INSTITUTE

6 N

THE ECONOMIC AND SOCIAL RESEARCH INSTITUTE

COUNCIL

- * TOMÁS F. Ó COFAIGH, President of the Institute.
- * EUGENE McCARTHY, Chairman of the Council. KEVIN BONNER, Secretary, Department of Enterprise and Employment.
 VANI K. BOROOAH, Professor, Department of Applied Economics and Human Resource Management, University of Ulster at Jordanstown.
 JAMES CAWLEY, Managing Partner, Cawley & Company, Solicitors.
 LIAM CONNELLAN, Vice-President, Royal Dublin Society.
- * SEAN CROMIEN, Secretary, Department of Finance. WILLIAM B. DILLON, Chief Executive, Amdahl Ireland Limited.
- * MARGARET DOWNES, Deputy Governor, Bank of Ireland.
- * MAURICE F. DOYLE, Governor, Central Bank of Ireland. DERMOT EGAN, former Deputy Chief Executive, AIB Group.
- * CONNELL FANNING, Professor, Department of Economics, University College, Cork. IAN GRAHAM, Consultant Cardiologist, The Charlemont Clinic, Dublin. GRAHAM GUDGIN, Director, Northern Ireland Economic Research Centre. JOSEPH HARFORD, Chief Executive, Yamanouchi Ireland Company Limited. JOHN HURLEY, Secretary, Department of Health
- KIERAN A. KENNEDY, Director of the Institute.
 PATRICK LYNCH, Chairman of the Institute, 1983-1988.
 JOSEPH MORAN, Chief Executive, Electricity Supply Board.
 DONAL MURPHY, Director, Central Statistics Office.
- * DERMOT F. McALEESE, Whately Professor of Political Economy, Trinity College, Dublin.
 EDWARD F. McCUMISKEY, Secretary, Department of Social Welfare.
 FERGUS McGOVERN, Chief Executive, Telecom Eireann.
- * DONAL NEVIN, former General Secretary, Irish Congress of Trade Unions. JOYCE O'CONNOR, Director, The National College of Industrial Relations. PATRICK O'REILLY, Chief Executive, EBS Building Society.
- * W.G.H. QUIGLEY, Chairman, Ulster Bank Limited.
- * NOEL SHEEHY, Professor, Department of Psychology, Queen's University of Belfast. MICHAEL J. SOMERS, Chief Executive, National Treasury Management Agency. REV. CONOR K. WARD, Social Science Research Centre, University College, Dublin. T.K. WHITAKER, President of the Institute 1971-1987.
- * PADRAIC A. WHITE, Director, Dresdner International Finance plc.

* Members of Executive Committee

MALE-FEMALE WAGE DIFFERENTIALS: ANALYSIS AND POLICY ISSUES

Copies of this paper may be obtained from The Economic and Social Research Institute (Limited Company No. 18269). Registered Office: 4 Burlington Road, Dublin 4.

Price IR£12.00

(Special rate for students IR£6.00)

Tim Callan is a Senior Research Officer with The Economic and Social Research Institute. Anne Wren is a former Research Assistant at the ESRI. This paper has been accepted for publication by the Institute, which is not responsible for either the content or the views expressed therein.

MALE-FEMALE WAGE DIFFERENTIALS: ANALYSIS AND POLICY ISSUES

Tim Callan and Anne Wren

.

© THE ECONOMIC AND SOCIAL RESEARCH INSTITUTE DUBLIN, 1994

ISBN 0 7070 0148 X

Acknowledgements

The authors would like to thank all those who commented on earlier drafts of this paper. Particular thanks are due to the Institute's internal readers, Jerry Sexton and Brendan Whelan, to the external referee, to the Employment Equality Agency and the former Department of Labour, and to the Department of Finance for their helpful comments and suggestions. Financial support from the Employment Equality Agency and the former Department of Labour for the study is also gratefully acknowledged. The paper draws extensively on the ESRI Survey of Income Distribution, Poverty and Usage of State Services: thanks are also due to those involved in the design and conduct of that survey.

We would also like to thank Pat Hopkins for copying several drafts of the paper, and Mary McElhone for her work in preparing the manuscript for publication.

CONTENTS

	Acknowledgements General Summary	Page iv ix
Chapter		
ì	INTRODUCTION	1
2	INTERNATIONAL EVIDENCE	3
3	MEASUREMENT OF WAGE DIFFERENTIALS IN IRELAND	18
4	DECOMPOSITION OF WAGE DIFFERENTIALS	34
5	EMPLOYMENT AND FAMILY COMMITMENTS	56
6	POLICY ISSUES	65
	References	91

.

÷

.

.

LIST OF TABLES

Table		Page
2.1	Ratios of Female to Male Hourly Earnings for Manual Workers in Manufacturing	5
3.1	Employees by Sex and Age Group: ESRI Survey and 1986 Census of Population	22
3.2	Average Hourly Earnings of Men and Women: Industrial Workers (CSO) and All Employees (ESRI), 1987.	23
3.3	Average Hourly Earnings of Men and Women Classified by Age Category, 1987.	25
3.4	Ratio of Female to Male Hourly Earnings Classified by Age and Marital Status, 1987.	26
3.5	Average Hourly Earnings of Men and Women Classified by Length of Work Experience, 1987.	27
3.6	Average Hourly Earnings of Men and Women Classified by Level of Education, 1987.	28
3.7	Average Hourly Earnings of Men and Women Classified by Occupation, 1987.	29
3.8	Detailed Breakdown of Clerical Occupations.	30
3.9	Average Hourly Earnings of Men and Women: Full-time and Part-time Employees, 1987.	31
3.10	Average Hourly Earnings of Men and Women : Full-time and Part-time; Teachers and Non-teachers, 1987.	32
4.1	Wage Gaps for Alternative Samples	42
4.2	Wage Equations for Men and Women Classified by Marital Status	43

,

Table		Page
4.3	Decomposition of Wage Differential between Men and Women, Ireland, 1987.	45
4.4	Decomposition of Wage Differential between Married Men and Married Women, Ireland, 1987.	48
A4.1	Means of Variables Used in Wage Equations: All Employees	54
A4.1	Means of Variables Used in Wage Equations: Married Employees	54
A4.1	Means of Variables Used in Wage Equations: Non-married Employees	55
5.1	Main Method of Childcare Used by Working Parents, 1987	58
5.2	Weekly Expenditure on Childcare, 1987	59
5.3	Care-givers Classified by Sex and Marital Status, 1987	61
5.4	Employment Rates for Care-givers and Others, 1987	62
5.5	Employment Rates for Female Care-givers and Others by Marital Status, 1987	62

.

.

,

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure		Page
2.1	Ratios of Female to Male Hourly Earnings of Manual Workers in Manufacturing Industries for Selected Countries	6
3.1	Distribution of Wage Rates for Men and Women	24
5.1	Economic Activity Rates of Married Women Classified by Age and Number of Children	57

GENERAL SUMMARY

Background to the Study

The average hourly earnings of Irish women working in industry rose sharply relative to their male counterparts during the 1970s, particularly after the introduction and implementation of equal pay legislation and anti-discrimination legislation. Since 1980, however, the gap between male and female hourly earnings in industry has been roughly stable. As in many other countries, the persistence of a sizable gap between men's and women's wages, as conventionally measured, has given rise to considerable concern. To date, the study of the nature and extent of the gap between male and female wages in Ireland has been hampered by a lack of suitable information. The present paper draws on data gathered in the ESRI's 1987 Survey of Income Distribution, Poverty and Usage of State Services to provide new insights into the nature and extent of the gap.

The primary goals of the analysis are to provide a comprehensive measure of the average gap between men's and women's hourly earnings, rather than one restricted to production workers in manufacturing; to examine the structure of the overall differential, in terms of the characteristics of jobs and of job-holders; to quantify the extent to which differentials can be explained by differences in the characteristics of male and female employees (such as education qualifications and the length of labour market experience) and how much is an unexplained "residual"; and to assess the impact of certain family commitments on women's employment. Policy issues arising in the area of equality of opportunity are discussed in the light of wider international experience and the new findings for Ireland.

Measurement of Male-Female Wage Differentials in Ireland

The most commonly quoted figures on the male-female wage gap are for production workers in manufacturing industry. In Ireland, the average hourly earnings of women in this group are just over two-thirds of the earnings of their male counterparts. But the group includes less than 1 in 3 of all employees and less than 1 in 5 of all female employees. Thus, statistics for this sub-group may not provide a representative picture of the economy-wide wage gap. The ESRI 1987 Survey provides information which allows a more general picture to be developed. It shows that when *all* male and female employees are included in the analysis, women's hourly earnings are approximately 80 per cent of men's - a ratio over 12 percentage points higher than the usually quoted one. This shows the importance of taking a comprehensive view of the issue, since women with above average earnings are more strongly concentrated than men in areas outside the manufacturing sector.

Some insights into the nature of the overall wage gap can be gained from examining average wages and the distribution of male and female employees in terms of a single factor, such as age or labour market experience. Typically, we find that wage gaps for groups of similar age or labour market experience are smaller - around 7 per cent for those aged under 35. The higher overall wage gap is due to the fact that women are more heavily concentrated in the younger age groups, which tend to have the lowest wages irrespective of sex. Despite the notable increase in married women's labour market participation over the last 30 years, approximately 70 per cent of female employees were aged below 35, compared with only 52 per cent of men.

Decomposition of Male-Female Wage Differentials

A more comprehensive analysis of the sources of the gap between men's and women's wages must take account of several factors simultaneously. Many international studies have been undertaken which attempt in this way to identify that part of the gap which can be explained by factors such as educational qualifications and length of labour market experience, and a "residual" which cannot be explained in this way. The basic intuition behind the procedures used in such studies is straightforward. Looking at male and female employees separately, relationships between hourly wages and measured personal characteristics (such as labour market experience and educational qualifications) are estimated. These relationships tell us, for example, how much an extra year's experience adds to the hourly wage of a man or a woman, other things being equal. With this information, we can estimate the hourly wage the average woman would receive if her characteristics were rewarded in the same way as men's. The difference between this estimate and the wage that an average man currently receives can be explained by differences in their characteristics.

Applying these methods to the ESRI data, we find that about half of the total wage gap of 20 percentage points can be explained by differences in productivity-related characteristics. Length of labour market experience plays the most important role: female employees typically have educational qualifications which are at least as high as those of men. This leaves an "unexplained" or "residual" gap of the order of 10 percentage points which cannot be explained by variables included in this study. Because of its "residual" nature, interpretation of this unexplained gap is difficult: in part it reflects the extent of our ignorance concerning the processes of wage determination. But a part of the unexplained gap may also reflect the effects of current or past discriminatory practices.

Employment and Family Commitments

There is clear evidence from a number of sources concerning the impact of children on women's labour market participation. Women with children, particularly those with a pre-school child, are less likely, other things being equal, to be in paid employment. While the extent to which women with children have remained in paid employment has grown, child-related breaks in women's labour market participation have contributed to the observed gap between men's and women's wages, and are likely to continue to do so. Similarly, evidence from the ESRI Survey and other sources shows that the extent to which women care for family members with special needs (such as the handicapped or the elderly) also tends to reduce their labour market participation, and their wage if they do return to the labour market.

Policy Issues

The analysis of the nature of the gap between men's and women's wages suggests that in the Irish context, a sustained rise in women's employment over the life-cycle would be the single most effective factor in reducing the gap between men's and women's wages. If policy were aimed solely at equality of labour market outcomes between the sexes, the implications would be relatively straightforward. But policy is aimed instead at creating equality of opportunity, while also seeking to achieve other goals - such as the maximisation of employment. This means that the relative weights assigned to different goals, and the degree to which policies favouring one goal have unfavourable impacts on other goals have to be considered. As a result, policy decisions on equal opportunities cannot be isolated from other areas of policy, but require a broad analysis which takes account of many factors. For example, the development of

xii MALE-FEMALE WAGE DIFFERENTIALS

state policy on childcare must include consideration of the developmental benefits of some forms of childcare for pre-school children, of the existing balance of income support between families in and out of work, and between one and two-earner couples, and of the more general implications of financing an increase in state expenditure.

Chapter 1

INTRODUCTION

The persistence of sizable differentials between male and female hourly earnings despite the introduction of a range of anti-discrimination measures has been a focus of concern in many countries. In Ireland, the ratio of the average hourly earnings of female production workers in industry to that of their male counterparts rose sharply between 1975 and 1980, following the implementation of equal pay legislation (1975) and anti-discrimination legislation (1977). But since that time the ratio has been approximately stable at about 68 per cent. The situation is, therefore, not unlike that which has given rise to concern elsewhere.

There have been, however, considerable constraints on the analysis of gender wage differentials in Ireland. The limitations of available data have tended to focus particular attention on the average hourly earnings of production workers in industry. But these constitute less than 1 in 3 of all employees, and less than 1 in 5 female employees. Furthermore, detailed analyses of the relationship between wages and gender, controlling for such important factors as educational qualifications and labour market experience, have been limited to rather special sub-samples of the population.

The ESRI Survey of Income Distribution, Poverty and Usage of State Services makes possible:

- (a) a comprehensive measure of the average gap between men's and women's hourly earnings;
- (b) in-depth analysis of the structure of these differentials, in terms of the characteristics of jobs and of job-holders;
- (c) quantification of the extent to which differentials are due to differences in the characteristics of male and female employees (such as educational qualifications and past labour market experience) and how much is a "residual", possibly attributable to discrimination; and
- (d) assessment of the impact of certain factors restricting women's labour market opportunities, including costs of childcare and the special care needs of other family members such as the elderly.

Throughout the paper, the focus is on differences in the *hourly* earnings of men and women. Weekly earnings obviously differ more greatly, because of differences in hours of work. But explanation of explanation of weekly earnings differences requires analysis of why men's and women's hours of work differ, which is outside the scope of the present study of *wage* differentials.¹

The paper is structured as follows. Chapter 2 contains a review of the international evidence, including both trends in male-female wage ratios, and cross-section analyses of gender wage gaps in selected countries. Chapter 3 begins by outlining the data from the ESRI Survey; and then uses it to measure the extent of the overall male-female wage differential in Ireland. The variation in the wage gap across age groups, occupations and marital statuses is also examined. Chapter 4 contains a detailed analysis of the wage gap between men and women. Separate analyses are conducted for married and non-married individuals, as well as an aggregate analysis irrespective of marital status. Chapter 5 deals with family commitments tending to restrict women's labour market participation and thereby reduce their potential wages at future dates. Chapter 6 reviews the nature of the policy instruments which have been used to bring about equality of opportunity between the sexes in the labour market, and the international experience with their use. It also reviews the instruments which have been used in Ireland, and some current policy issues.

See Drew (1991) for a recent study of factors influencing the extent of part-time work.

Chapter 2

INTERNATIONAL EVIDENCE

2.1 Introduction

Before conducting a more detailed analysis of the Irish wage gap, it is of interest to set it in its international and historical context. In this chapter we provide a summary of the trends and levels in the wage gap in a range of countries over the last few decades (Section 2.2).

A large number of international studies have been carried out which attempt to decompose the wage gap into:

- (a) that portion which may be attributed to differences in characteristics between men and women; and
- (b) a "residual", which might be attributable to discrimination

Investigations of this kind are necessary if we are to fully understand the nature and behaviour of the wage gap and hence to assess the type of policy most appropriate to attempt to reduce it. International studies attempting to decompose the wage gap in this way are therefore reviewed in Section 2.3. In Section 2.4 we briefly review some theories of labour market discrimination, which also provide relevant background information for the present study.

2.2 International Trends in Male-Female Wage Ratios

In order to obtain a broad comparative picture of historic trends in the wage gap, we must rely on statistics on the hourly earnings of manual workers in the manufacturing sector. The restriction of the figures used to manual workers in manufacturing means that it may not reflect accurately the *level* of the economy-wide wage gap between men and women. First, since the male-female wage gap in the manufacturing sector tends to be larger than in the non-manufacturing sector, concentration on the manufacturing sector will tend to lead to an overestimation of the size of the total wage gap. At the same time, the wage gap is calculated to be smaller among manual than non-manual workers in most OECD countries, hence a concentration on manual workers in manufacturing might be expected to lead to an underestimation of the size of the total wage gap in the manufacturing sector. The arithmetic of the economy-wide wage gap is

further complicated by the fact that the proportion of women working in non-manual occupations is higher than for men. Since the general level of earnings for women (and men) is higher in non-manual occupations than in manual occupations, this factor tends to reduce the economy-wide wage gap between men and women. The balance between these factors may vary across countries and over time, severely limiting the interpretation which should be placed upon them.

In 1955, most OECD countries recorded male-female wage gaps of between 30 and 50 per cent. Over the last three decades female relative earnings have shown substantial increases in most of these countries, causing wage gaps in some countries to fall as low as 10 or 15 per cent by 1989, though gaps of up to 30 per cent persist in a number of countries. Table 2.1 shows the ratio of female to male hourly earnings for manual workers in the manufacturing sector over this period in a range of countries.

Each country differs in its initial starting point, the size and timing of changes in the wage gap, and the length of time over which the changes occurred. As the table shows (and as illustrated in Figure 2.1), wage ratios in Ireland and the UK have behaved rather similarly over the last three decades. Along with Japan and the Netherlands, they recorded values of less than 60 per cent in 1955, falling well below those of close to 70 per cent observed in the Scandinavian countries. In addition, while wage ratios began to show an upward trend in the late 1950s in Germany and the Netherlands, and in the early 1960s in most other countries, no such changes are observed in Ireland and the UK until the 1970s. Relative earnings grew fairly strongly in both countries during the 1970s, but remained more or less constant throughout the 1980s at just below 70 per cent. The growth of relative earnings seems to have come to a halt in most countries in the late 1970s, with only a few countries (e.g., Norway, Greece, France, and the US) recording increases in the last decade. By the end of the period shown, wage gaps in some of the Scandinavian countries were between 10 and 15 per cent and most of the other countries shown recorded gaps of between 20 per cent and 30 per cent. In spite of the sharp increases in female earnings relative to males during the 1970s, however, aggregate wage gaps for production workers of over 30 per cent persisted in Ireland and the UK. A similar gap persisted in Switzerland, and a larger one in Japan; the aggregate wage gap had declined only minimally in each of these countries over the entire period.

Year	Den	Fin	Ger	Grc	Irl	Jap	Neth	Nor	Swe	Swi	UK	US	A'lia	Fra
1955	65.3	67.6	62.8		56.4	44.7	58.8	67.4	69.2	63.7	58.5	68.9		
1956	66.4	68.9	63.6		56.4	44.0	59.6	67.8	69.2	64.2	58.6	69.0		
1957	66.7	68.4	62.4		56.7	43.4	60.3	67.5	69.3	64.2	58.2	68.0		
1958	66.6	6 7 .7	63.5		57.I	43.0	60.3	67.5	69.0	63.1	58.4	67.7		
1959	67.0	67.2	64.5		57.9	43.9	61.8	67.5	68.8	63.2	58.4	66.4		
1960	66.5	66.4	65.6		57.7	45.7	61.7	67.1	68.8	63.3	57.3	66.3		
1961	66.8	6 6 .0	67.0	64.7	56.7	47.5	61.I	68.1	69.1	63.5	57.3	64.7		
1962	67.0	65 .7	67.7	63.4	57.2	49.9	62.7	68.6	70.5	62.8	57.7	65.2		
1963	68.7	6 6 .7	68.7	62.7	57.2	50.7	65.1	69.5	7 2.2	62.7	57.5	65.4		
1964	70.2	67.7	68.3	61.3	56.9	51.1	65.5	70.7	73.7	62.6	57.2	65.9		
1965	71.6	68.1	68.8	62.1	56.7	51.9	66.9	72.0	74.9	62.7	56.8	66.6		
1966	71.7	68.9	69.4	62.9	57.1	51.8	69.5	73.0	76.5	63.1	57.4	64.6		
1967	72.7	6 9 .1	69.1	67.2	56.3	51.2	70.0	74.3	77.6	63.3	57.3	63.9		
1968	74.0	69.3	69.4	68.4	56.7	52.0	72.0	74.8	78.2	63.1	57.4	64.4		
1969	74.3	69.8	69.4	69.2	54.3	52.9	71.6	74.8	79.1	63.7	57.2	66.9		
1970	74.4	70.4	69.6	68.0	56.2	52.9	71.8	75.1	80.0	64.7	57.6	65.5		
1971	76.6	70.8	70.1	66.2	56.5	53.1	72.5	75.4	82.4	64.9	58.5	65.3	65.7	
1972	77.9	71.3	70.7	67.2	57.2	53.6	72.5	76.2	8 3.8	64.7	59.3	63.6	67.7	
1973	82.3	71.7	70.9	65.5	59.6	53.9	75.5	76.2	84.1	65.4	60.7	62.7	69.4	
1974	83.8	72.4	71.6	66.9	59.5	52.3	77.6	76.7	84.0	65.7	65.I	62.7	74.1	
1975	84.3	72.6	72.I	69.5	60.9	51.2	79.2	78.0	85.2	66.0	66.5	63.3	78.5	
1976	84.8	73.3	72.2	70.3	61.0	51.0	79.8	79.4	86.9	66.5	70.2	66.6	79.0	
1977	86.5	74.3	72.3	68.8	61.2	50.7	80.0	79.8	87.4	65.4	70.8	64.8	80.0	
1978	86.2	74.8	72.8	69.0	63.8	50.9	80.4	80.2	88.7	66.0	69.I	65.8	79.8	
1979	86.4	75.3	72.8	67.9	66.7	50.4	80. I	80.5	89.3	65.9	69.1	65.6	77.4	
1980	86.1	75.4	72.7	67.8	68.7	49.5	80.2	81.9	89.9	66.4	68.8	65.6	78.7	77.0
1981	85.8	76.3	73.1	67.2	67.6	49.1	79.3	82.6	90.1	66.9	68.8	64.6°	77.4	78.1
1982	85.1	77.1	73.0	73.1	68.5	48.8	79.2	83.2	90.3	67.0	68.8	66.1	78.2	77.7
1983	85.5	75.6	72.6	74.6	68.5	48.8	79.2	84.0	90.2	66.8	69.0	66.6	76.1	78.4
1984	85.8	77.2	72.7	76.2	68.3 *	48.9	79.0	83.9	90.0	66.9	68.8	65.3	79.6	78.4
1985	85.6	7 6 .8	72.7	77.6	67.6	48.6	77.7	83.5	89.8	67.1	68.2	66.3	79.4	79.1
1986	84.9	77.4	72.9	76.9	67.8	48.5	78.7	83.8	90.4	67.4	67.9	68.1	80.0	79.5
1987	84.2	77.3	73.0	77.6	67.4		77.6	83.7	90.1	67.3	68.0	69.0	79.8	79.2
1988	84.5	77.2	73.0	78.0	68.9		78.0	84.3	90.0	67.5	68.0		79.6	
1989	84.6	76.8	72.8					85.5	89.5		68.4			

 Table 2.1 Ratios of Female to Male Hourly Earnings for Manual Workers in Manufacturing

Sources: OECD Employment Outlook (Sept. 1988); ILO Yearbook of Labour Statistics; and for US, O'Neill (1985).

Notes: a. Pre-1985 the Irish figures relate to industrial establishments with 3 or more people engaged. From 1985 on they are restricted to establishments with 10 or more people engaged.

b. The series for the US are not strictly comparable with the others shown. There is also a discontinuity in the series at 1982. The series up to 1982 is median earnings of year round full-time workers adjusted for hours worked from O'Neill, 1985. From 1982 on the series is "implicit" hourly earnings adapted from the median annual earnings of "true" year-round workers (Monthly Labour Review, July 1990).

Figure 2.1: Ratios of Female to Male Hourly Earnings of Manual Workers in Manufacturing Industries for Selected Countries



6

There is no simple correspondence between the ranking of OECD countries according to the usual measures of economic strength, such as GNP per head, and the male-female wage ratio. Neither is there a simple correspondence between economic growth and reductions in the wage gap. However, most of the growth in the female-male wage ratio in continental Europe (including Scandinavia) occurred during the more favourable economic climate of the 1960s and early 1970s. Significant links between economic growth, the strength of labour demand, and the male-female wage ratio could be part of the explanation.

More generally, the path of the male-female wage ratio over time can be viewd as influenced by the balance between the supply of and demand for male and female labour. (Geary and Walsh, 1972). Implicit in this view is some element of segmentation or segregation between the markets for male and female labour. In most OECD countries, despite a rapid expansion in female labour force participation, the occupational and industrial structure of employment for men and women remains quite different (OECD, 1988). Thus, if industries in which women are concentrated experience relatively strong growth, upward pressure on the female-male wage ratio may result. But if the supply of female labour increases, and leads to relatively slow wage growth in these sectors, downward pressure on the female-male wage ratio may result.

2.3 Analysis of Male-Female Wage Differentials

2.3.1 Methods of Analysis

In studying Table 2.1 certain obvious questions present themselves. Why do some countries consistently display larger wage gaps than others? Can the differences between countries simply be explained by differences in the characteristics of their workforces or is there a measure of discrimination involved? Closely linked to these questions are questions about the changes which have occurred in the wage gap over the last few decades. Why has the wage gap fallen much faster in some countries? Are the changes which have occurred a result of changes in the structure of the labour market or in the characteristics of participants or have they come about due to changes in societal attitudes and legislation?

Many international studies have been carried out which attempt to decompose the wage gap into that which can be "explained"- i.e., that which is attributable to differences in productivity-related characteristics between men and women - and a residual which might be attributed to discrimination. Such studies are obviously useful in attempting to understand the nature of the wage gap and go some way to answering the questions posed above. They are also an essential element in determining the appropriate policy response to deal with the wage gap: anti-discrimination legislation will only be effective in so far as the wage gap is actually due to discrimination, rather than, for example, differences in educational levels or past experience. The results of some of these studies will be reviewed in this section. The impact of legislation and policy initiatives in various countries on the wage gap is examined in more detail in Chapter 6.

Most studies follow a fairly standard methodology to decompose the wage gap. Separate "wage offer" equations are estimated for males and females. Each equation contains "human capital attribute" variables (such as education, training, health, etc.), and a separate, so-called "home time" variable measuring the amount of time spent outside the labour market, allowing the impact of each on male and female wages to be estimated. By including the "home time" variable it is hoped that the so-called "depreciation effect" of time spent out of the labour market on human capital (i.e., skills, proficiency, etc.) and hence on labour market rewards can be taken into account. Following a method devised by Oaxaca (1973) these two equations are used to decompose the differences in the average wages of men and women into three components:

- (1) The wage gap that would exist if women's attributes were rewarded as men's (i.e., that arising from differences in the measured attributes of men and women)
- (2) The wage gap arising from differences attributable to time spent out of the labour force; and
- (3) A residual which might be attributable to discrimination (in so far as it represents the differences in the renumeration of measured attributes between men and women.)

From the third component an index is derived, which represents the percentage increase in their hourly wage women would receive, given their attributes, if these attributes were rewarded in the same way as those of their male counterparts. This index is often referred to in the literature as a "discrimination" index. There are, however, considerable difficulties attached to the interpretation of the index. In the remainder of this section,

we set out some of the major difficulties, which should be borne in mind in interpreting the results of the international studies reviewed in this chapter, and the results for Ireland contained in Chapter 4.

The first, and most obvious difficulty in interpreting the residual and the "discrimination" index based on it, is that, by definition, it includes the effects of all unmeasured factors. As Mincer (1985) puts it, the residual should be considered a "measure of ignorance". The residual will depend not only on the extent of any discrimination, but also on any relevant productivity-related characteristics which are not included in the particular data set. To this extent use of the residual as an estimate of discrimination can lead to an over-estimation of the effects of discrimination. Some unmeasured factors could, however, work in the opposite direction.

The recent study by Wright and Ermisch (1991) of the UK wage gap points out some further problems in interpreting the "discrimination" index. First, the residual element, representing the differential impact of male and female human capital attributes on wages, will tend to reflect a combination of differences in actual rates of return to the same unit of human capital and of gender differences in human capital investment ratios- i.e., differences in the amount of "investment" in human capital undertaken by males and females both in education and on the job. Only the former differences are defined as "direct discrimination" but the methodology used does not permit the separation of the two. This factor tends towards over-estimatation of the extent of "direct discrimination".

On the other hand, gender differences in human capital investment may themselves reflect discrimination in the market place to some extent. If human capital investments are inequitably rewarded in the marketplace an economically rational woman will choose to invest less than her male counterpart. In such circumstances, controlling for factors such as education, training, and length of time spent in the marketplace will lead to an underestimation of the true extent of labour market discrimination: characteristics such as education, training and actual labour market experience may themselves reflect the indirect effects of labour market discrimination.

Similar problems arise when occupational differences are included in the analysis. The inclusion of variables capturing occupational differences in the wage equation can improve the explanatory power of regressions considerably. It also assumes, however, that the choice of occupation is a completely free one and, as such, that occupational differences are in some way "justified". Such an assumption ignores the effects of labour market discrimination on the occupational attainment of women (and hence on their wages). Therefore an approach based on this assumption is likely to underestimate the extent of discrimination.

In recognition of this problem, and in order to facilitate comparisons with earlier studies, Wright and Ermisch do not include any occupational variables in their analysis. Specifying their wage equation purely in terms of "human capital attributes", they concentrate on an "equal pay for equal human capital attributes" interpretation of discrimination. This interpretation has significant limitations. Actual wage rates can depend not only on human capital but also on industry-specific factors (leading to industry-specific wage differentials) and on the role of unions. Part of the differences between male and female wage rates may reflect the influence of these factors. In our analysis of Irish data (Chapter 4) we explore the possible sensitivity of results to alternative approaches.

2.3.2 Results of International Studies: UK, Sweden and USA

UK studies

Studies of the UK wage gap are of particular interest, in view of the similarity of the wage gap trends between Ireland and the UK. Wright and Ermisch (1991) provides the most recent study, and a review of previous UK work on this topic. Wright and Ermisch provide the first UK estimates of wage gaps which are adjusted for education levels and *actual* work experience data, making use of the first nationally representative sample of British women to include detailed work histories and earnings data - the 1980 Women and Employment Survey. Through the use of these data they claim to provide a more accurate estimate than earlier studies which were forced to use estimates of "potential" or "imputed" work experience which restricted their ability to accurately take account of the depreciation effect of home time on female wages.

As a result of their analysis, they conclude that about 50 per cent of the 1980 wage gap may be attributed to direct discrimination and thus, that the "extent" of discrimination is between 20 and 25 per cent- i.e., women's wages would be approximately one-fifth higher in the absence of direct discrimination. About 17 per cent of the wage gap they attribute to differences in attributes between males and females, with "home time" contributing between 25 and 30 per cent. The findings of Wright and Ermisch appear to coincide with most of the findings of previous studies of the UK wage gap (all of which are operating, of course, under the general limitations of the method discussed earlier). Their estimate of the extent of

discrimination in 1980 is only slightly higher than Miller's (1987) estimate of 18.5 per cent for the same year, which was based on an analysis of the General Household Survey. Miller estimated the "depreciation effect" of home time as slightly higher, however. They point out that while their estimate is slightly lower than that of Joshi and Newell (1987) for the year 1977/1978 (27 per cent), this was to be expected since Joshi and Newell were concentrating exclusively on an older (1946) birth cohort whereas their data included younger generations. In addition it was to be expected that their estimates would be slightly higher than those of Dolton and Makepeace (1986) (20 per cent) who concentrated on university graduates and Siebert and Sloane (1981) who concentrated on professional workers. The only UK study which appears to conflict substantially with these findings is that of Zabalza and Arrufat (1982, 1985), who estimated that in 1975 more than 70 per cent of the wage gap was attributable to the "depreciation effect" of home time and that the "extent" of discrimination was less than 10 per cent. There appears to be no clear explanation for these differences,¹ in particular since Miller's study was carried out on the same data set as Zabalza and Arrufat's - the General Household Surveyand used a similar measure of "imputed" experience to compensate for the absence of real work history data in the survey. Indeed Wright and Ermisch show in their own analysis that the use of "imputed" experience in substitution for actual work experience data makes little difference to estimates of the female wage equation and of gender discrimination.

Among their conclusions, Wright and Ermisch note that, taking Joshi and Newell's 1972 estimate the level of discrimination as 51 per cent as a baseline, their 1977 estimate of 32 per cent, along with Wright and Ermisch's 1980 estimate of between 20 per cent and 25 per cent, indicate that the level of gender discrimination declined in line with the overall wage gap during the 1970s. This suggests that the anti-discrimination legislation introduced in this period was at least partially responsible for the observed reduction in the overall wage gap in so far as it caused a reduction in the amount of direct gender pay discrimination. A more detailed review of the evidence of the impact of legislation on the UK wage gap will be presented in Chapter 6.

¹It may be noted that Zabalza and Arrufat's results are sensitive to the Heckman correction for self-selection of women into the paid labour force.

Swedish studies

Analysis of the Swedish wage gap is also potentially enlightening in view of the contrast between the Swedish and Irish experiences as shown in Table 2.1. Gustafsson and Jacobsson (1985) point out that the dramatic decrease in the male-female wage gap observed in Sweden between 1963 and 1981 was accompanied by increases in female education levels and in the level and duration of female labour force participation. In principle, they argue, this could imply that the observed decrease in the wage gap was a result of an equalisation of the amount of human capital accumulated at school and work between women and men. Investigating this further by means of a decomposition of the wage gap, however, they discover that most of the decrease appears to have occurred as a result of factors other than the included human capital variables. A large portion of the Swedish wage gap falls into the residual or "unexplained" category (approximately four-fifths in 1981) and sharp decreases in this residual account for almost all of the reduction in the wage gap observed over the period 1963 to 1981. It is clear, therefore, that the large decreases observed in the Swedish wage gap between 1963 and 1981 cannot be attributed to changes in human capital attributes. Neither can they be attributed to anti-discrimination legislation, however, since the bulk of such legislation was not introduced in Sweden until the 1980s. Gustafsson and Jacobsson cite the effects of centralised collective bargaining, a strong union policy to increase low wages, and structural changes in the economy, such as the increase in public sector employment, as possible explanatory factors, although they offer no direct evidence to support their suggestions.²

US studies

The virtual stability of the US wage gap over three decades, despite the passage of equal pay and equal employment legislation, has provoked much discussion and analysis. O'Neill (1985) cites the results of various studies which have found that a large part of the US wage gap is explained by differences in schooling, work experience, job tenure and the effects of "home time", with the residual attributed either to unmeasured factors or to discrimination. O'Neill postulates that the wage gap would not narrow unless either the productivity of females relative to males in the labour market increased or the extent of discrimination in the labour market declined. She therefore investigates the behaviour of the measurable

²Neither is there any discussion of the possible employment effects of the unions' wage policies.

12

productivity-related characteristics of males and females in the labour market over the period in question, in an attempt to explain the trends in the wage gap, and concludes that it was the behaviour of these variables which prevented the overall wage gap from decreasing. Between 1950 and 1979 the educational differential between men and women in the labour force, which had previously favoured females, declined steadily, as a result of faster growth in the educational attainment of men relative to that of women and the faster growth in labour force participation of less educated, relative to more educated women. In addition, the length of job tenure of men also grew relative to that of women up to the mid-60s. O'Neill argues that the increases in the sex differentials on education and work experience that occurred as a result of these changes were in fact sufficient to cause a larger increase in the wage gap than was observed during this period, thus their failure to do so may imply that the level of "discrimination" actually decreased. In the late 1970s a small decrease in the US wage gap began to be observed. Population Survey evidence shows a sharp decline in female entrants and leavers as a percentage of the labour force since 1975, implying an increase in average female work experience levels which must have contributed, at least in part, to this decrease.

O'Neill's work emphasises the role of human capital attributes in influencing the behaviour of the US wage gap over the last four decades, therefore, although her discussion also leaves room for labour market discrimination to play its part (both directly, and indirectly through the "feedback" effects of labour market discrimination on human capital attributes). Blau and Ferber (1987) report the findings of various studies conducted between 1964 and 1981 which attempt to measure the extent of gender pay discrimination in the US using a method similar to that employed by Wright and Ermisch (as described earlier). The "unexplained" wage gap as measured in these studies lies between 51 and 87 per cent of the total wage gap. The results of those studies which excluded occupation as an explanatory variable (for reasons discussed earlier) and which included actual- rather than "potential" or "imputed"- work experience, are the most comparable with those of Wright and Ermisch. Two such studies are included by Blau and Ferber and, on average, they report 56 per cent of the overall wage gap as "unexplained"- a slightly higher figure than that reported in the UK study.

The US is one of the few countries which have observed continued reductions in their wage gaps throughout the 1980s. These further reductions were predicted by O'Neill on the basis of evidence of increases in work experience levels among younger women and in female relative to male college enrollments at the end of the 1970s. The OECD attributes much of the reduction in the last decade to decreases in the level of occupational segregation. Although much legislation has been directed towards the reduction of both occupational segregation and the wage gap in the US over the last 25 years the extent of its impact in actually reducing the two remains in doubt and is discussed in more detail in Chapter 6.

2.4 Theories of labour market discrimination

A major element of the concern about differences between average male and female wages is that a part of the difference may be due to direct or indirect discrimination. A number of theoretical models have been advanced to explain how discrimination can arise and persist in the labour market. Here we draw extensively on Cain's (1986) review of this literature, which in turn builds on Becker's (1971) pioneering work in this field. Becker's work was focused on the question of racial discrimination, but many of the elements of the models he considered are also relevant to the study of sex discrimination.

One potential source of discrimination is a prejudice on the part of consumers. Becker models this as a "taste for discrimination", which reduces the price the consumer is willing to pay for the output of the disfavoured group. Even if most consumers have such prejudices, competitive forces would tend to equalise wages between equally productive workers. Some degree of job segregation would result, with workers who were the target of prejudice becoming concentrated in jobs that did not have customer contact, or contact only with customers who did not share the prejudice.

Similarly, Becker models prejudice on the part of workers as an increase in the wages they demand to work with the disfavoured group. Again, it can be argued competitive forces would tend to lead to segregation, rather than an outcome in which the wage for equally productive workers was different. Prejudice on the part of employers is modelled as a reduction in the wage they are prepared to pay to members of the disfavoured group. Intuitively it is clear that members of that group would tend to work for the least prejudiced employers; and that such employers would gain a cost advantage. In a competitive market, under constant returns to scale, such employers would maximise profits by expanding production and drive more prejudiced firms out of business. Ultimately, it could be expected that unprejudiced employers emerge and

14

replace prejudiced employers. Persistence of discrimination might then be explained by violations of the constant costs assumption, or by monopolistic elements.

Monopoly power in a product market does imply that competitive forces will not drive the firm out of business; but it does not imply a corresponding power in the labour market. If a monopoly cannot affect wages in the labour market, Cain argues that it would not be profit-maximising for it to pay a higher (lower) wage to a favoured (disfavoured) group of workers. A prejudice against a group would again tend to lead to a segregated workforce instead. Regulated or public monopolies could pay higher wages to a favoured group, but Cain argues that the concern of even these monopolies with their public image limits the extent to which this is likely to explain discriminatory outcomes.

The existence of monopsony power in the labour market (a situation in which one firm, or a group of colluding firms, act as a single buyer of labour) could make certain forms of discrimination profitable. In particular, groups with a less elastic supply of labour to the firm would tend to receive lower wages. However, in the context of male-female wage differentials, the fact that female labour supply is typically more elastic is seen as limiting the importance of this explanation of discrimination. On the other side of the labour market, it can be argued that the ability of unions to raise wages above competitive levels could give rise to discriminatory outcomes. But it is also possible that union power can tend to narrow the gap between the wages of favoured and disfavoured groups, as shown by Ashenfelter's (1972) study.

Models which explicitly recognise the existence of uncertainty regarding individual workers' productivity levels imply that some individual workers wages will be above their productivity and others below. But this does not imply that there will be discrimination against a particular group. Some models involving higher costs to the disfavoured group of signalling the extent of their productivity can generate such outcomes. The empirical relevance of these models depends to a large extent on limitations in the way in which productivity signals can be given.

Overall, Cain's assessment stresses the limitations of the existing theories purporting the explain discrimination. It also points to the need to confront the theoretical models with relevant empirical evidence, and the need to draw on the insights provided by historical case studies and approaches which highlight the institutional features involved.

2.5 Conclusions

Attempts to decompose the wage gap, such as those described above, are extremely useful in aiding our understanding of its nature and behaviour. Studies from various countries show that it is possible to decompose the wage gap into differences in productivity-related characteristics and a residual which is often used, despite its drawbacks, as the best available estimate of labour market "discrimination". It is important, however, to recognise these drawbacks in order to guard against faulty interpretations of the analyses.

The estimates of the level of "discrimination" based on this approach cannot be safely regarded as either an upper or a lower bound. It is clear, for example, that productivity-related characteristics may themselves be influenced by labour market discrimination. To the extent that there is direct discrimination in wages, this will have effects on women's investment in human capital (via education, training and labour market participation), which will in turn tend to widen the wage gap. Direct discrimination in terms of access to training may also occur, and would also tend to widen the wage gap. These factors would imply that the "residual" would underestimate the true impact of labour market discrimination on the wage gap.

On the other hand, it is argued that the residual is in fact more accurately considered a "measure of ignorance" (Mincer, 1985). The residual will contain not just a measure of the effect of discrimination, but also of any relevant productivity-related characteristics which are not included in the particular data set (as well as any measurement errors). To this extent use of the residual as an estimate of discrimination can lead to an over-estimation of the effects of discrimination. It has been pointed out, however, that some unmeasured factors could also work in the opposite direction. These problems are all significant ones, and must be borne in mind when analyzing any attempted decomposition of the wage gap. One interpretation of the residual would see it as an upper bound on the degree of direct discrimination. Direct discrimination is probably of greatest interest from a policy point of view, since its elimination or reduction will also tend to reduce the indirect effects; the rationale for policies addressing the effects of indirect discrimination, rather than its causes, is much less clear.

The attempts to decompose the wage gap described above cannot totally explain the differences in the behaviour of the wage gap in different countries. They do show, however, that not only the size, but also the composition of the wage gap varies from country to country, and that

16

INTERNATIONAL EVIDENCE

different factors appear to be more significant in influencing its reduction in different places. Wright and Ermisch, for example, point to the contribution of the decline in the level of gender discrimination to the decrease in the overall UK wage gap in the 1970s and suggest that anti-discrimination legislation may have been effective in influencing this decline. In Sweden also the reduction of the overall wage gap was accompanied by a decline in the residual measure of discrimination, although in the Swedish case the decline is more likely to reflect structural changes in the labour market and union policy than legislation. US studies tend to emphasise the importance of changes in productivity-related variables, but leave room for the influence of discrimination.

The sources of discrimination, and explanations for its persistence, have been the subject of considerable theoretical research. Cain's (1986) assessment stresses, however, that empirical support for many of the theoretical models is quite limited. Institutional and historical case studies can provide additional insights into the processes at work.

The impact of anti-discrimination legislation in influencing the reduction of the wage gap is often unclear. The Swedish case proves that a decline in the residual measure of "discrimination" cannot automatically be attributed to legislation, while the US wage gap has been relatively constant over a 25 year period during which extensive legislation was put in place. A more detailed review of the international evidence of the impact of legislation will be presented in Chapter 6. Chapter 4 will provide a decomposition of the Irish wage gap using the methods which have become standard in the international literature.

Chapter 3

MEASUREMENT OF WAGE DIFFERENTIALS IN IRELAND

3.1 Introduction

Previous research on male-female wage differentials in Ireland has been hampered by a lack of suitable data. Blackwell's (1986) analysis was based on two main sources: statistics on the earnings of industrial workers regularly published by the Central Statistics Office, and statistics on the structure and distribution of earnings for 1974 and 1979 published by Eurostat. The CSO's regular series concentrates on the earnings and hours of work of workers in industry. It excludes agriculture, building and construction, public administration, retail and wholesale distribution, finance, and professional and personal services. Overall, about one-third of all employees are to be found in industry; but only about one-fifth of all female employees. Furthermore, the average industrial earnings series, which has been used to derive the male-female wage ratios examined in Chapter 2, does not include all employees in industry: only "industrial workers"¹ are included. Information on clerical and managerial staff has only been published in recent years.

The statistics available from this source have further limitations from the point of view of analysis of wage differentials. They provide a classification by category of industry, but not by occupational status. Thus, variations in the ratio of male to female wages across industries, or over time, may be due to shifts in occupational status within industries.

The other main sources of data on male-female wage differentials were the Surveys of the Structure and Distribution of Earnings, undertaken in 1974 and 1979. The 1974 Survey covered only wholesale and retail distribution, banking and insurance; the later Survey also included industry. Thus, the 1979 Survey offered fuller coverage than the CSO's regular series; but it still excluded almost two-thirds of employment in the total services sector, in which much female employment was concentrated.

^{&#}x27;Industrial workers include operatives, maintenance workers, storekeepers, packers, cleaners, basic supervisory staff and apprentices.

This chapter presents a picture of male-female wage differentials based on a more recent and more comprehensive data source: the ESRI Survey of Income Distribution, Poverty and Usage of State Services. The nature of the Survey is outlined in the next section, concentrating in particular on the features relevant to the comparison of male and female hourly wage rates. Relevant checks on the reliability of the data are also reported. The size of the overall wage gap between women and men for this more comprehensive data source, and the variation in the wages and gender wage gaps by characteristics of jobs (occupation, industry) and job holders (age, education level, full-time or part-time working, marital status) are reported in Section 3.3.

3.2 Description of the Data

The Survey of Income Distribution, Poverty and Usage of State Services was conducted by the ESRI in 1987. A detailed description of the nature of the sample, the methods employed, and the information gathered is given in Callan, Nolan *et al.* (1989); here we simply outline the main features, concentrating on those most relevant to the analysis of gender wage differentials.

The sampling frame was the Electoral Register, from which a sample of names and addresses was drawn, using the RANSAM program. This gave each individual on the Register an equal probability of selection (see Whelan 1979): larger households were therefore more likely to be chosen, but a post-sample weighting procedure was designed to take this into account.

Interviews were obtained from a total of almost 3,300 households, representing an effective response rate² of 64 per cent; this is comparable with the response rate obtained in the CSO's Household Budget Survey. In order to correct for possible biases introduced by the pattern of non-response, as well as the fact that the initial selection would tend to over-represent large households, the sample was re-weighted using information from the 1986 Labour Force Survey. Detailed tabulations kindly supplied by the CSO allowed a reweighting on the basis of a four-way crosstabulation: number of adults in the household, urban versus rural location, and the age and occupation of the head of household. Reweighting of the sample ensures that it represents the distribution of the

²The CSO's term for the response rate calculated on the basis of the number of households which were contacted; households which could not be contacted, mostly because they had moved, or the person selected was in an institution or had died, are excluded from the calculation.

population of households over the cells in this four-way classification in the same way as the 1986 Labour Force Survey. Independent checks on the reliability of the data in other dimensions are then possible; results of these checks will be reported later in this section.

The questionnaires used in the Survey gathered information on a wide range of topics. From the point of view of the present study, the most important items of information are those pertaining to the labour market activity of individuals, and their personal characteristics. For individuals aged 15 and over, who where not in full-time education, a detailed individual questionnaire included questions on current labour market status, current earnings and other income, occupation and industry, highest educational qualification achieved and labour market experience since leaving education. For those who were currently employees, detailed information on current gross earnings, deductions and net earnings were obtained. If usual pay differed from pay in the last pay period, information on usual gross and net pay was requested. The number of hours usually worked was also requested, with overtime hours identified separately. For workers paid weekly, the questionnaire also asked for the total number of hours worked in the last week.

Hourly wage rates are calculated for the present study on the basis of usual pay and usual hours worked including overtime. Where this is not possible, an hourly wage rate calculated on the basis of the most recent pay and hours worked in the past week is used instead.³

For some individuals it was not possible to obtain responses to the full individual questionnaire; for example, when the individual was away from home during the period of the interviewing, or did not wish to complete the full questionnaire. In those circumstances, an abbreviated questionnaire was completed instead, with responses being provided either by the individual concerned or by another household member. This questionnaire was used to obtain basic information on labour market status, usual earnings (gross and net) and usual hours of work, occupation and industry, and the highest educational qualification achieved.

The issue of overtime earnings is discussed further at the end of Section 3.3.

The reliability of the ESRI Survey data can be checked by comparing independent control totals or distributions (e.g., the distribution of population over age categories from the Census of Population) with predictions based on the reweighted ESRI Survey data. A wide range of such checks has already been performed, confirming the representativeness of the Survey in terms of:

- 1. Age distribution of the population
- Distribution of households classified by number of members at work;
- Distribution of households classified by number of members unemployed;
- 4. Distribution of entitlements to health services in 1987 (medical cards, hospital services cards and others)
- 5. Number of recipients and expenditure on major social welfare schemes
- 6. Income tax paid by the PAYE sector

This battery of checks supports a high level of confidence in the reliability of the Survey, not only in terms of its representation of general demographic and socio-economic characteristics, but also in terms of employee pay which is of particular importance to this study.

The representativeness of the data on the employee population in terms of its distribution by age and sex, and by occupation and industry, has been examined by Nolan's (1993) study of low pay. The distribution of employees by age and sex was compared with results from the 1986 Census of Population. Table 3.1, reproduced from Nolan's study, shows that estimates based on the 2,800 employees in the ESRI sample closely resemble the Census figures. Women account for 38 per cent of all employees in the Census, and 36.6 per cent of all employees in the ESRI sample. The one discrepancy which may reflect a bias in the sample estimates is the underestimation of the number of employees in the youngest age bracket, aged 15 to 24 years: this may be due to the difficulties in obtaining responses from young single persons living in flats, and the deficiencies of the Electoral Register as a sampling frame for this sub-population.

Age	Male		Fem	ale	Total		
runge	ESRI	Census	ESRI	Census	ESRI	Census	
		Percenta	ges of all e	mployees			
15-24	11.3	13.9	13.0	14.3	24.3	28.2	
25-34	22.0	18.6	12.9	12.2	34.9	30.8	
35-44	13.8	14.0	4.9	5.2	18.7	19.2	
45-54	10.3	9.2	3.4	3.6	13.7	12.8	
55-64	5.8	5.6	1.9	2.2	7.7	7.8	
65 & over	0.3	0.6	0.5	0.5	0.8	1.1	
Total	63.4	61.9	36.6	38.1	100.0	100.0	

 Table 3.1:
 Employees by Sex and Age Group: ESRI Survey and 1986 Census of Population

Source: Nolan (1993).

Nolan performs a similar analysis of the distribution of employees by occupation, and by industry, comparing the ESRI Survey results with those from the 1987 Labour Force Survey. The ESRI Survey shows a somewhat higher proportion of "producers, makers and repairers" than the Labour Force Survey; and in the industrial classification, it overrepresents production industries and public administration at the expense of professional services and building. Overall, however, it appears that the ESRI sample reflects the industrial and occupation composition of employees quite well.

The accuracy of the self-reported earnings data is of particular importance for the present study. Nolan shows that Survey data on average weekly earnings for workers in industry are in line with what would be expected from the CSO data on Industrial Earnings, when account is taken of the fact that CSO figures exclude small establishments where wage levels would be expected to be somewhat lower.

3.3 Male-Female Wage Gap: Aggregate and Disaggregated Analysis

Since the ESRI Survey allows the calculation of hourly wage rates for men and women in a much wider range of industries and occupations than has hitherto been possible, we look first at some aggregate figures based on this comprehensive data set. Table 3.2 compares the results from the ESRI dataset with those from the CSO statistics on Industrial Earnings and Hours Worked at the same time.

	unu An Employees (E	.5107. 1907.		
		(1) Women Average hourly	(2) Men earnings	(3) F/M Ratio (1)/(2)
CSO:	Industrial workers in industry	£3.59	£5.31	67.6
ESRI ¹ :	All employees	£4.27	£5.33	80.1

 Table 3.2: Average Hourly Earnings of Men and Women: Industrial Workers (CSO)

 and All Employees (ESRI), 1987.

Sources: Irish Statistical Bulletin, December 1990 and ESRI Survey 1987. Note: 1. The ESRI estimates are based on a sample of 2,763 employees.

It was noted in Chapter 2 that, for several reasons, the economy-wide wage gap between men and women might differ from the wage gap between production workers in industry. Table 3.2 illustrates this point The average wage of men in all occupations and quite strikingly. industries, estimated from the ESRI Survey, is found to be almost identical to the hourly earnings of male production workers in industry.⁴ But hourly earnings for women in other industries and occupations are found to be significantly higher than for female production workers in industry. Average hourly earnings of all women employees taken together are about 19 per cent higher than those for female production workers in industry. As a result, the gap between the average hourly earnings of all women is 12.5 percentage points less than the gap between male and female production workers. Fundamentally, the lower gap in the economy-wide figures from the ESRI data reflects the fact that women with relatively high wages are more likely to be found in the non-industrial sector (for example, as teachers) while the industrial sector includes more of the top of the male wage distribution (such as skilled manual workers).

Figure 1 illustrates how the average wage gap in the ESRI sample arises. The graph shows higher proportions of women at the lower wage rates (less than £4 per hour), whilst at the higher wage rates there are proportionately more men than women.

⁴Average earnings of male and female workers in industry in the ESRI data are close to published CSO statistics, so that an explanation of the difference between ESRI figures and CSO figures must concentrate on the non-industrial sector.


Figure 1: Distribution of Wage Rates for Men and Women Percentage of Male/Female Employees at each level of Average Hourly Earnings



Note: Horizontal axis measures average hourty earnings at intervals of £1.00.

The ESRI Survey results can be disaggregated to show how male and female wages, and the ratio of women's to men's wages, vary with different characteristics. While the overall sample sizes are substantial (almost 1,800 men and over 1,000 women employees), it is inevitable that this process will lead to rather small sample numbers in particular cells. In order to guard against over-interpretation of data based on small numbers, no results are reported if they would be based on less than 25 cases; while an asterisk is used to denote results based on between 25 and 50 cases.

It is important to realise that the overall female-male wage ratio reported at the bottom of each table is *not* a weighted average of the wage ratios for each sub-section of the population. Rather the overall wage *levels* reported on the bottom line of each table are a weighted average of the average *wages* in each subsection.⁵ The overall female-male wage ratio is the ratio between these two overall average wage levels.

⁵Hence the overall female wage is a weighted average of the wages reported for each category, with weights equal to the proportion of female employees in each category. The overall male wage is, similarly, a weighted average of the wage in each sub-section of the population of male employees, with weights equal to the proportion of males in each sub-section.

The reason why the overall wage ratio is not simply a weighted average of wage ratios for the different categories can be seen clearly in Table 3.3, which shows how men's and women's wages vary with age, and how male and female employees are distributed over the age categories. For both men and women, wages rise with age until the middle age-bracket (35-44); men's hourly earnings then plateau, while women's hourly earnings dip and then peak. But the most striking feature of the table is that the gap between men's and women's wages is much lower when age is taken into account.⁶ This arises from the fact that female employees tend to be concentrated in the youngest age groups, who tend to have lower wage rates irrespective of sex.⁷ These younger age groups will, therefore, be more heavily weighted in calculating the average female, than the average male, wage rate. In effect, the overall wage gap is comparing the wages of younger women with those of older men.

	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)
	Women	Men	Women	Men	F/M
	Average	hourly	% in	age	Ratio (1)/(2)
	earn	ings	cates	gory	
15-24	£3.03	£3.25	36.1	17.8	93.2
25-34	£4.79	£5.16	34.8	34.8	92.8
35-44	£5.36	£6.26	13.4	21.7	85.6
45-54	£4.84	£6.22	9.4	16.1	77.8
55-64	£5.89	£6.20	5.0	9.2	95.0
All Ages	£4.27	£5.34	100	100	80.0

 Table 3.3: Average Hourly Earnings of Men and Women Classified by Age Category, 1987

Source: ESRI Survey 1987.

Notes: A small number of cases aged 65 plus are included in the "all ages" category.

⁶For the two youngest age groups, which include about 70 per cent of women employees, the average gap between men's and women's wages is less than 8 per cent.

⁷It can be seen from the table that 71 per cent of female employees compared with only 52 per cent of males were concentrated in the two youngest age groups, which tend to have lower wages irrespective of sex.

It is of interest here to consider what underlies the relatively higher wage ratios in the lower age groups. Is it simply that a higher proportion of these women are single, childless and have uninterrupted labour market experience? Or is there a generational difference between the two groups e.g., in educational levels, occupations or labour market attachment - which would suggest that these higher wage ratios might in time be observed at all age levels? Unfortunately, in the absence of longitudinal data, it is impossible to track changes in the wage ratio as more recent cohorts move into the older age groups and hence this question cannot be conclusively answered, although an examination of the characteristics of the different age groups does provide some clues.

Age	Married	Other
	Female to male	wage ratio: per cent
15-24		95
25-34	92	98
35-44	85	109*
45-54	70	
All Ages	82	97

 Table 3.4:
 Ratio of Female to Male Average Hourly Earnings Classified by Age and Marital Status, 1987

Source: ESRI Survey 1987.

Notes: "Other"= Single, widowed or separated.

* denotes an estimate or one element of a ratio based on fewer than 50 cases. Estimates based on less than 25 cases are not reported.

In the youngest age group, for example, 93 per cent of women and 94 per cent of men are single. As one would expect, the proportion of both sexes who are married increases with age, with 62 and 71 per cent of females and males respectively in the 25 to 34 year-old age group, and 70 and 86 per cent of males and females respectively in the 35 to 44 year-old age group married. Table 3.4 shows the female to male wage ratio, classified by marital status, at each age level. Of most interest here is the difference between those in the 25 to 34 and 35 to 44 year-old groups. The

wage ratio amongst married people falls by 7 percentage points between these two groups. The lower wage ratio in the older age group may be closely related to the level, extent and degree of continuity of labour market participation. It is possible that there is a stronger degree of labour market attachment in the younger age cohort. If so, then wage ratios might be expected to increase in the older age groups as the younger cohorts move into them. But alternative explanations of these results, which would not lead to this conclusion, are also possible. It may be, for example, that child-related reductions in labour market attachment, or limited opportunities for part-time work compatible with child-rearing, become more dominant in the older age group.

	(1) Women Average h	(2) Men ourly earnings	(3) F/M Ratio (1)/(2)
Less than 5 years	£3.10	£3.30	93.9
5 to 15 years	£4.54	£5.21	87.1
15 to 25 years	£5.17	£6.17	83.8
25 to 35 years	£6.39*	£6.09	104.9
More than 35 years		£6.21	
All Experience Levels'	£4.44	£5.58	79.6

 Table 3.5: Average Hourly Earnings of Men and Women Classified by Length of Work

 Experience, 1987

Source: ESRI Survey 1987.

Notes: 1. The estimates in this table differ slightly from those presented in other tables; this is because they are based on 2,055 cases for which data on experience are available.

* denotes an estimate based on fewer than 50 cases.

In light of the tendency for female labour market participation to be interrupted, it is perhaps of more relevance to examine wage ratios taking actual labour market experience rather than age into account. Table 3.5 shows a wage ratio of almost 94 per cent amongst males and females with less than 5 years labour market experience. From this point on, male wages grow faster with experience than those of females, causing wage ratios to decline steadily. It is important to note here, however, that the survey data do not allow account to be taken of the timing or duration of employment interruptions and thus a straightforward interpretation of the data as indicating unequal rewards for identical levels of experience should be avoided. The jump in the wage ratio to over 100 per cent amongst those of between 25 and 35 years experience should also be interpreted with caution as there are only 44 women contained in this sample group.

What is clear from the table is that the wage gap at each experience level is smaller than the total wage gap. Furthermore, 72 per cent of the women in the sample had less than 15 years labour market experience, compared with only 40 per cent of males. As wage rates tend to be lower for both sexes in these two lowest experience groups, this has the effect of pulling the overall wage ratio downwards.

Euxcunon, 1907			
	(1)	(2)	(3)
	Women	Men	F/M
	Average h	ourly earnings	Ratio (1)/(2)
No Secondary Qualifications	£3.03	£4.47	67.8
Group/Intermediate Cert	£3.18	£4.53	70.2
Leaving Cert/Leaving+Diploma	£4.30	£5.82	73.9
University Degree	£8.30	£9.48	87.6
All Education Levels	£4.27	£5.35	79.7

 Table 3.6:
 Average Hourly Earnings of Men and Women Classified by Level of Education, 1987

Source: ESRI Survey 1987.

Table 3.6 shows a steady decrease in the size of the wage gap as levels of education increase. Wage ratios for all levels of education below university level are below the average. The average hourly earnings of university graduates of both sexes are significantly higher than those at all other levels of qualification, however, hence the high wage ratio at this level serves to raise the overall wage ratio considerably, in spite of the fact that graduates account for only 10 per cent of the sample.⁸

28

⁸9.1 per cent of the male sample; 11.4 per cent of the female sample

-			
	(1) Women Average hourly	(2) Men earnings	(3) F/M Ratio (1)/(2)
Producers, makers & repairers	£3.36	£4.71	71.3
Transport, communication & storage workers	£3.48*	£4.45	78.2
Clerical workers	£4.06	£6.27	64.8
Commercial, insurance & finance	£2.69	£4.69	57.4
Service workers	£2.81	£4.85	57.9
Professional & technical	£7.32	£8.80	83.2
Others ^t		£7.20	
All Occupations	£4.27	£5.33	80.1

 Table 3.7: Average Hourly Earnings of Men and Women Classified by Occupation, 1987

Source: ESRI Survey 1987.

Notes: 1. Excluding workers in agriculture and building and construction.

* denotes an estimate based on fewer than 50 cases.

The distribution of wage rates by occupational category (Table 3.7) shows that in most of the broad occupational groups the wage gap is *larger* than the average for all occupations. This suggests that, of itself, the distribution of men and women across occupational groups does not explain much of the average differential between men and women: most of the differences occur *within* each broad occupational group. Analysis of a more detailed occupational classification, distinguishing between 21 occupational groups, finds quite similar results to those reported here. The distribution over 21 occupational groups does not contribute to an explanation of the overall wage gap; once again, most of the differences occur within these occupational groups.

While these simple crosstabulations based on occupational groupings do not take account of the other factors influencing wages (such as the individual's experience), they are helpful in guiding further investigation of the idea that the male-female wage gap reflects the concentration of female employees into a relatively small number of sex-segregated occupations. They suggest that this thesis would only be likely to hold on the basis of a very fine occupational classification. The finest classification available in the Survey is the CSO's classification into 213 detailed occupational groupings, as used in the Census of Population. The sample size does not permit a detailed analysis on the basis of the full classification, but some of the issues and problems arising from its use are illustrated in Table 3.8.

	(1) Women Number in .	(2) Men sample	(3) Wage ratio %
Typists and key-punch operators	80	2	*
Bookkeepers, cashiers and related workers	67	26	83
Computing machine operators	13	4	*
Clerical workers NES.	124	45	67
Clerical supervisors	16	6	*

Table 3.8: Detailed Breakdown of Clerical Occupations

Source: ESRI Survey 1987.

Note: * no estimate reported because of low sample numbers.

The low numbers of male typists are likely to make it difficult to obtain a reliable estimate of the male-female wage ratio in this occupation, even with a much larger sample. This is likely to be a problem in a number of detailed occupational categories. But even where sample numbers appear to be sufficient to warrant calculation of a ratio, we find that significant gaps between average male and female wage rates can remain. Within the residual category for clerical workers, for example, we find that the average female wage is about two-thirds of the average male wage. But this category includes, for example, both the Clerical Assistant and the Clerical Officer grades in the civil service. Further refinement of the occupational classification could be expected to reduce the gap between average male and female wages within detailed groups,⁹ though differences due to other sources (such as length of experience) might remain.

This line of analysis, if sample size were sufficient to permit it, would help to clarify the nature of the observed gap between male and female wages. But it is focused rather narrowly on whether the limited goal of equal pay for identical jobs is being achieved. If, in addition, we wish to answer questions regarding equality of opportunity, however, the inclusion

30

⁹For example, for the small numbers of male and female computer machine operators, average pay is very similar.

of such a fine level of detail on occupations is not appropriate. Occupational attainment, especially within a very finely detailed classification, may reflect discrimination within or outside the labour market, as well as voluntary choices. Analysis which includes a fine level of occupational detail may "explain" the gap between men's and women's wages by reference to an occupational structure which includes the effects of discrimination. However, the occupational structure is not *solely* determined by discriminatory factors: it does also include the effects of personal choices. If occupational structure is entirely excluded from the analysis, no account is taken of the effects of such personal choices on wages and wage differentials. The difficulties posed by this dilemma are taken up again in Chapter 4.

Employees	, 1907			
<u></u>	(1) Women Average ho	(2) Men purly earnings	(3) F/M Ratio (1)/(2)	
Full-time ¹ Part-time ¹	£4.21 £4.52	£5.31 £6.42*	79.3 70.4	

Table 3.9: Average Hourly Earnings of Men and Women: Full-Time and Part-Time Employees, 1987

Source: ESRI Survey 1987.

Note: 1. Part-time workers are defined as those working less than 30 hours per week; except that teachers who report 24 or more hours of work per week are regarded as full-time. UK evidence suggests that this is close to what would be found as self-reported answers to a question on part-time versus full-time working.

It is sometimes argued that hourly pay rates for part-time working will tend to be lower, other things being equal, than for full-time work, as the result of both supply and demand factors. With almost 20 per cent of the women sampled working part-time, compared with only 3 per cent of men, this thesis is clearly of relevance to the analysis of overall wage differentials. The aggregate picture of wages in full-time and part-time employments presented in Table 3.9 above lends no support to this contention, however: both men's and women's hourly earnings in part-time work appear to be higher than in full-time work on average. It should be borne in mind, however, that the condition that other things be held equal is not being met in this simple crosstabulation.

		(1)	(2)	(3)
		Women Average hi	Men ourly earnings	= F/M Ratio (1)/(2)
Non-Teachers	Full-Time ¹	£3.81	£5.21	73.1
	Part-Time ¹	£3.41	£4.61*	74.0*
Teachers	Full-Time ¹	£8.84	£9.57*	92.4*
	Part-Time'	too tew	too few	too few

Table 3.10:	Average Hourly Earnings of Men and Women: Full-Time and Part-time;
	Teachers and Non-Teachers, 1987

Source: ESRI Survey 1987

Notes: 1. As defined in Table 3.9.

* denotes an estimate or one element of a ratio based on 25 to 50 cases.

The average hourly earnings of part-time teachers appear to be particularly high, and despite the small numbers involved, this does affect the overall part-time/full-time comparison. It could be argued that the high hourly earnings figures for teachers are due, in part, to measurement error. If some teachers tend to report lower hours because they take less account of time spent in the preparation of classes and the correction of written work, this will cause their average hourly earnings (calculated by dividing their reported usual earnings by their reported usual hours of work) to be biased upwards. The picture of high hourly wages for teachers is not without foundation, since the profession has longer holidays than most However, in order to guard against possible bias from occupations. variation in the reporting of hours by teachers, we present results for teachers and non-teachers separately. The results for non-teachers show that male and female part-time workers have lower average hourly earnings than their full-time counterparts, by about 10 per cent. The female to male wage ratio, however, is approximately equal for non-teaching part-timers and full-timers.

The differing extent of overtime working among men and women could also contribute to the observed gap in wage rates as measured here. Even if basic rates of pay were identical across the sexes, men would tend to get higher average wage rates if they were engaged in more overtime. We explored this issue using the data in the Survey, which identified overtime hours separately from regular hours. There was, as expected, a greater incidence of overtime earnings for male workers. To assess the extent to which this could explain differences in average hourly earnings between men and women, we sought to estimate "basic" wage rates for individuals reporting overtime hours. In order to do so, it is necessary to make some assumption regarding the overtime rate of pay. Assuming a rate of time-and-a-half, we find that adjusting for overtime accounts for less than 1 percentage point of the difference between male and female wages. Even if we assume that all overtime is paid at double-time, the extent to which it accounts for the observed wage gap is not much over 1 percentage point.

3.4 Conclusion

This chapter noted the data constraints under which previous Irish research on gender wage differentials operated. The advantages offered by the more recent and more comprehensive ESRI Survey of Income Distribution, Poverty and Usage of State Services were then outlined. It obtained information from about 3,300 households, containing around 2,800 employees. The relevant labour market data were described. The reliability and representativeness of the Survey, in the context of labour market studies such as the present one, was discussed. The sample appeared to represent employees adequately in terms of age, sex, industry and occupational classifications as well as average earnings; the tax take from the PAYE sector also appears to be well predicted by the sample, suggesting that the distribution of earnings is also representative.

The broader coverage in the ESRI Survey results in a narrower gap between the sexes than figures for production workers in industry would suggest. The gap for all employees, estimated using the ESRI Survey, is 20 per cent of men's average hourly earnings; some 13 percentage points lower than the figure for production workers.

The distribution of hourly earnings by sex and age category also shed new light on the nature of the aggregate wage gap. Wages tended to rise with age until the middle age-bracket (35-44), with no trend towards increase or decline thereafter. The gap between men's and women's hourly earnings was less than 8 per cent of men's hourly earnings in the youngest age groups (15-34). But these age groups accounted for about 70 per cent of women's employment. Thus, the aggregate wage gap is partly reflecting a comparison of the wages of younger women with those of older men. A crosstabulation of hourly earnings by sex and marital status corresponded closely with this age-based analysis. Average hourly wage rates for non-married women and men (mostly young and single) were almost identical; but there was still a gap of about 20 per cent between the wage rates of married men and women.

Chapter 4

DECOMPOSITION OF WAGE DIFFERENTIALS

4.1 Introduction

The persistence of sizeable male-female earnings differentials despite the introduction of a range of anti-discrimination measures has been a focus of concern in many countries. A natural first step in analysing the persistence of such overall differentials is to decompose the wage gap into portions due to differences in characteristics (such as education and experience) and a residual, possibly attributable to discrimination. There are many such studies in the international literature; Chapter 2 reviewed the results for a selection of countries.¹ Irish studies on this topic, however, have been few in number and somewhat limited in scope. All past studies for Ireland have been based on surveys of rather special populations: Walsh and Whelan (1976) analysed a sample of redundant workers; Reilly (1987 and 1990) examined differentials in the youth labour market; while Ruane and Dobson (1990) analysed the academic labour market. Until recently, an analysis of a more representative sample has not been possible because of the lack of suitable data. The data gathered in the ESRI Survey of Income Distribution, Poverty and Usage of State Services, which included detailed information on the employment, education and earnings of both men and women, make it possible to fill that gap.

In this chapter, a decomposition of the total wage gap is undertaken for all male and female employees in the ESRI Survey. Separate analyses are also included for married and non-married sub-samples. The basic methods are set out, and the results of previous research on the Irish situation are reviewed in Section 4.2. The full empirical specification and data used in the present study are outlined in Section 4.3. The results are presented and discussed in Section 4.4. A detailed study of the wage gap for the married sub-sample, was also undertaken (Callan, 1991). It addressed a number of issues which are of particular concern in that context, including the self-selection of women into the paid labour force. The analysis of the more comprehensive sample undertaken here builds on that earlier analysis. Section 4.5 summarises the main results from that

¹For a recent, general review of this literature, see Gunderson (1989).

earlier study, including some comparisons with the work of Wright and Ermisch (1991) in the UK. The concluding section draws together the main findings.

4.2 Methods and Previous Research

The basic intuition behind the standard procedures for analysis of the male-female wage gap can be explained quite simply. Looking at male and female employees separately, relationships between hourly wages and personal characteristics (such as length of work experience and educational qualifications) are estimated. These relationships tell us how much an extra years work experience adds to the hourly wage of an individual; and how much an educational qualification typically adds to the hourly wage of an individual, other things being equal. This information allows us to estimate the hourly wage that an average woman would earn if her attributes were rewarded in the way as men's. The difference between the hourly wage that an average man currently gets, and the hourly wage that an average woman would get if her characteristics were rewarded in the same way as men's, can be explained by differences in their characteristics: length of work experience, years spent out of the labour market, educational qualifications and so on. The difference between the hourly wage that an average woman actually earns; and the hourly wage that she would earn if rewarded in the same way as men, cannot be explained by differences in As noted in Chapter 2 this "unexplained measured characteristics. residual" may be due to discrimination, though it could also be due to other factors not controlled for by the analysis.

An index based on the size of this residual can be constructed. It measures how much higher an average woman's hourly wage would be if her measured characteristics were rewarded in the labour market in the same way as men's. This is widely termed the "discrimination index", but the term "wage adjustment index" captures more precisely what the index measures: the extent of the adjustment to the average woman's wage which, on the basis of the sample and control variables used, would arise if her characteristics were rewarded in the same way as men's.² The wage adjustment index is not a precise measure of the true extent of discrimination, which may be higher or lower than this figure. If there is direct discrimination, in terms of lower wages for the same characteristics, this may have an impact on women's choices in terms of educational

²Cain (1986), in a survey of the economics of discrimination, takes a similar approach to the labelling of the measures used.

attainment and continuity of employment. Women may be less likely to invest in education and training, and more likely to leave employment, if their wages are lowered by discrimination. Thus, some of the differences in measured characteristics may be indirectly attributable to discrimination.

The wage adjustment index may, however, overstate the degree of direct discrimination. The measures of work experience typically used do not take into account the amount of on-the-job training or skill accumulation involved. But since women are more likely than men to plan to interrupt their labour market careers, it would be economically rational for women, on average, to engage in less on-the-job training or skill acquisition per year of employment.³ Thus, a higher rate of return for men's years of experience might reflect this factor, rather than direct discrimination. On this basis, the index might best be interpreted as an upper estimate of the degree of direct discrimination.

A further complication arises because the measured characteristics do not fully explain the variations *within* the male and female groups. While the degree to which measured influences explain the within-group variation depends on the particular dataset, the existence of a substantial unmeasured influence on wages is common to all datasets. It is possible, therefore, that men's and women's unmeasured characteristics differ in ways which could help to explain the residual. In this case, the wage adjustment index would overstate the extent of direct discrimination. On the other hand, men's and women's unmeasured characteristics, and the way they are rewarded, may result in an increase in the wage adjustment index.⁴

The "standard procedure" for analysis of the determinants of the male-female wage gap can be set out more precisely in econometric terms.⁵ First, wage equations are estimated for samples of individual men and women separately:⁶

³Similar considerations may also give rise to what is sometimes termed "statistical discrimination" by employers, in terms of access to employer-supported training - an issue considered in Chapter 6.

⁴The analysis in Section 4.5 illustrates such a possibility, by comparing results based on different explanatory variables.

 $^{^{5}}$ cf. Gunderson (1989), Wright and Ermisch (1991). The notation follows that of Wright and Ermisch.

 $^{^{6}}$ w is the hourly wage rate, X a vector of characteristics such as educational levels and experience, and β the returns to those characteristics. Discussion of the precise specification of the vector of characteristics, X, is deferred until Section 4.3.

$$\log w_m = X_m \beta_m + \varepsilon_m \tag{1}$$

$$\log w_f = X_f \beta_f + \varepsilon_f \tag{2}$$

The average differential between men and women can then be expressed as:⁷

$$\overline{\log w_m} - \overline{\log w_f} = \hat{\beta}_m (\overline{X}_m - \overline{X}_f) + (\hat{\beta}_m - \hat{\beta}_f) \overline{X}_f$$
⁽³⁾

The first term on the right hand side represents that portion of the average differential which is explained by differences in average characteristics. The second term represents the portion which cannot be explained in those terms; this residual is due to differences in rates of returns to the characteristics. It is widely used to derive an index, often termed the "discrimination" index, but referred to here as the "wage adjustment index":

$$D_f = 100(\exp(\beta_m - \beta_f)X_f - 1)$$
⁽⁴⁾

This index measures how much higher an average woman's wage would be if women's characteristics were rewarded in the same way as men's characteristics are currently rewarded.

As Wright and Ermisch point out, the index cannot be taken as either an upper or a lower bound on the extent of discrimination:

If women's employment interruptions are exogenous, then [the index] represents an upper bound on the degree of direct discrimination, because the *expected* interruption reduces women's investment in human capital *before the interruption*, both in education and on-the-job. As a consequence, the coefficients associated with education and work experience would be lower for women even if they earn the same returns on human capital as men...But as Weiss and Gronau (1981) show, when the length (and existence) of employment interruptions is endogenous, discrimination in pay induces longer labour force withdrawals (less work experience, more home time), creating a

37

. . .

⁷An alternative decomposition based on $\beta_f(\overline{X}_m - \overline{X}_f)$ and $(\beta_m - \beta_f)\overline{X}_m$ yields similar results, unless otherwise indicated, to those reported here.

tendency for [the index] to understate the full effect of discrimination on earnings differences. (Wright and Ermisch, 1991, pp. 5-6)

Despite these *caveats*, the index is widely used; but it should be interpreted with caution, as noted by Wright and Ermisch. For that reason, it is referred to as the wage adjustment index, or simply D_f , in this chapter.

Walsh and Whelan (1976) analysed the difference between male and female *weekly* earnings along these lines, using a sample of redundant workers⁸. They found that less than 2 per cent of the total differential of over 50 per cent was due to differences in attributes. Thus, the implied wage adjustment index was itself above 70 per cent. However, the authors cautioned that the sample was not a representative one, so that inferences about the level of discrimination at national level could not be made.

Reilly (1987) analysed a sample of younger workers, where the observed wage gap was around 10 per cent. He found that about 30 per cent of this gap could not be explained by differences in attributes; the implied wage adjustment index of about 3 per cent was, although small, significantly different from zero. In a later paper (Reilly, 1990) it was shown that this aggregate index concealed quite large variations as between manual and non-manual occupations. There was no significant difference in the reward structures for manual occupations. But, depending on the method used to control for occupational endogeneity, the point estimate of the wage adjustment index for non-manual workers varied from 6 per cent (and significantly different from zero) to 16 per cent (but insignificantly different from zero).

In Ruane and Dobson's (1990) sample of academics, average male income was 23 per cent higher than average female income; their analysis showed that measured attributes accounted for about half of this difference, yielding an adjusted wageg gap of about 11 per cent.

Each of the micro-level studies refers to a restricted sample (redundant workers, young workers or academics). US and UK results suggest that the size of the unexplained gap is lower in the academic market than in the wider labour market; and studies of the youth labour market cannot take into account either explained or unexplained effects associated with child-bearing and child-rearing in later years. Thus, the need for a more

⁸Marital status was used as a proxy to capture the effects of part-time working, which was, in any case, quite limited in its extent at that time, and concentrated disproportionately among married women.

general sample is clear. The present study provides estimates of the role of employment interruptions, differences in attributes, and differences in reward structures in the overall wage gap between men and women based on a general sample.

There have also been a number of more descriptive studies focusing on the role of average pay rates within industry and occupational categories in the overall male-female wage gap, particularly in the context of the low pay issue. A common interpretation of these studies is that high risks of low pay rates are found in a small number of broadly classified occupations and industries; and that women's employment is concentrated in these categories, whereas male employment tends to be in higher paying occupations and industries. A more accurate reading of the studies may be that this is true only when occupations are classified at a very detailed level. Blackwell's (1986) conclusion that "the fact that women are a small minority in employment at the higher occupational levels, and are overrepresented in relatively low pay segments of industry and in retail distribution has a powerful influence on their earnings relative to those of men, driving them lower", for example, is based on a very detailed occupational classification. While this approach is valuable in establishing the nature of the wage gap, it cannot be regarded as a full explanation. It may be legitimate to regard differences in broad occupational grouping as reflecting voluntary choices, but differences in occupational attainment, particularly at a highly detailed level, may reflect discrimination. Individuals may choose to become clerical workers rather than production workers; but it is much less likely that they choose to remain at lower-paid levels within their chosen occupational grouping, which is what the use of finer occupational detail as an explanatory variable would imply. The analysis in this chapter will suggest that the gap between male and female wage rates depends more on differences in pay within the broad occupational classification, and less on the distribution across the broad occupational classes, in contrast to a common interpretation of descriptive studies such as Blackwell (1986) and Nolan (1993).

4.3 Empirical Specification

Gunderson (1989) notes that the variables used to control for productivity-related differences in wages have varied quite widely from study to study. It is possible to distinguish between two broad approaches. The first of these may be called a strict "human capital" approach, which includes as control variables educational qualifications, labour market experience, and time spent unemployed or out of the labour market. The second approach is distinguished by its inclusion of occupational and/or industry variables in its controls: it will be labelled the "occupational" model here, and variants may range from those which include only occupational dummy variables to those which include experience and/or educational qualifications as well.⁹

Given that occupational attainment is often linked to educational qualifications, but has other dimensions, each of these approaches can claim certain advantages. The narrower human capital models can claim to give better estimates of the returns to educational qualifications: when occupations are included the estimates of returns to education are biased downwards. But models which do not take account of differences in wages across occupations may lead to estimates of "discrimination" which reflect not differences in pay between men and women in similar jobs, but differences in pay for different jobs. Such differences may reflect differences in access to occupations, or differences in choices. Neither the human capital nor the occupational models has resolved this issue satisfactorily: the strict human capital model can be seen as producing an index which includes occupational differences as if they were due to enforced segregation, while the broader models including occupational dummies can be seen as producing estimates which treat occupational differences as if they were either justified by qualifications and experience, or due to voluntary decisions.¹⁰

Since neither model has a unique claim to our attention, two basic empirical specifications are used here. The first uses just the narrower human capital variables, together with some other, mainly demand-side controls (regional, occupational and industry-specific unemployment rates, a regional dummy for the capital city which includes about one-third of the Irish population, and an urban/rural dummy). The second includes only dummies based on the broad occupational groups used by the Central Statistics Office; in effect this also includes some key industry dummies.

The human capital model is applied to samples of all employees, married employees and non-married employees. The results of this analysis are discussed in Section 4.4. Both the human capital and occupational models are applied to the married sample. These results are

⁹Models which combine the human capital variables with occupational variables may often be described as human capital models; but this term is given a narrower interpretation here.

¹⁰For example, the model of Polachek (1981) suggests that women will choose occupations in which the rate of wage decline with respect to time spent out of the labour force are lower.

presented in Section 4.5. The coefficient estimates of the human capital approach are presented in some detail; the estimated wage adjustment indexes are then compared with those derived from the simple occupational model, and some composite models.

The data for the analysis is taken from the ESRI Survey of Income Distribution, Poverty and Usage of State Services, as described in Chapter 3, Section 3.2. The sample used in Section 4.4 consists of all employees for whom the relevant information was available. There are a total of 1,994 such individuals (1,215 men and 779 women). The married sub-sample contains 811 men and 329 women, while the non-married sub-sample contains 404 men and 450 women. The sub-sample used in Section 4.5 differs slightly, because it includes a focus on the participation decisions of married women; the main difference is that individuals aged 60 or over are excluded. The analysis is based on a sample of 324 married women employees and 783 married men; the analysis of married women's participation decisions is based on a total sample of 1,712 married women.¹¹

4.4 Results

One of the most striking results in Chapter 3 was that the wage gap between married men and married women was much greater than for those who were not married. Average wage rates for non-married men and women were very nearly equal; but the average wage rate for married women employees was about 20 per cent below that for men. The analysis here includes a distinction between employees who are married and others, in order to find possible explanations for this combination of circumstances.

The fact that data on work experience are needed for the present analysis means that some cases included in the tabulations in Chapter 3 cannot be included here. The sample used here includes only those individuals who provided answers to a full, detailed individual questionnaire: about 3 out of 4 employees in the ESRI Survey did so. The remaining employees, for whom more restricted information is available, tended to be young, single and living with their parents. As seen earlier, young single people tend to have relatively low wages, but a more equal balance between male and female wages. This leads to a higher wage gap

[&]quot;This employment rate is not far from the current national average for married women.

in the sample analysed here than in the overall sample. Table 4.1 sets out the wage gaps for the present sub-sample compared with those for the full sample used in Chapter 3. These differences must be borne in mind in interpreting the econometric results of this chapter.

Marital Status	Sample size	(1) All	(2) Married	(3) Not Married
ESRI: full sample	2763	20	18	3
ESRI: econometric sample	1994	33	32	9

Table 4.1: Wage Gaps for Alternative Samples

Memorandum item: Wage gap for industrial workers in industry (CSO) 32 per cent

Table 4.2 presents separate wage equations for all male and female employees, married men and married women employees, and other male employees and other female employees. All the equations are based on a "human capital" approach, with actual measures of years worked and years not worked by both men and women. The estimation method was ordinary least squares.¹²

The general pattern of the coefficient estimates in the wage equations for male and female employees is as expected. It is commonly found that wages increase with experience, but not in a strictly linear fashion. The inclusion of squared terms in experience allow for this possibility. The combination of coefficient estimates found means that the more actual work experience an individual has, the higher the wage he or she is able to command; but the effect of an additional year of work experience tends to decline over time. Time spent out of the labour market on the other hand, tends to depress the wage which an individual can command; this influence also declines over time. Higher educational qualifications are consistently associated with higher wage rates. For example, the predicted hourly gross wage for a woman with the average characteristics of a participant is about £2.80 if she has an Intermediate Certificate and £3.70 if she has a Leaving These figures rise to £5.00 if she has a diploma or other Certificate. third-level qualification, and £7.20 if she has a university degree.

42

¹²An alternative method taking into account married women's participation decisions is employed in Section 4.5, which also explores results based on potential rather than actual labour market experience.

Eqn. No.	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)	(6)
Sample	Men	Women	Men	Women	Men	Women
Marital Status	All	All	Married	Married	Not	Not
					Married	married
Years not worked/10	-0.31	-0.21	-0.47	-0.26	-0.34	-0.15
	4.02	-3.06	-3.68	-2.96	-2.22	-1.18
(YrsNotWorked) ² /1000	1.08	0.54	2.77	0.78	1.04	0.28
	4.19	1.95	2.60	2.21	2.65	0.58
Experience/10	0.63	0.71	0.37	0.54	0.70	0.69
·	20.3	14.5	6.70	5.27	11.6	10.5
(Experience) ² /1000	-0.98	-1.32	-0.53	-0.88	-1.32	-1.30
	14.9	-10.1	-5.20	-3.45	-9.35	-7.61
Constant	0.63	0.35	0.99	0.65	0.67	0.28
	10.8	4.01	10.8	4.17	6.12	2.30
Educational level:						
Group Cert.	0.15	0.15	0.15	0.12	-0.00	0.10
F	4.16	2.30	3.84	1.40	-0.00	0.98
Inter Cert	0.19	0.17	0.20	0.27	0.04	0.07
	4.54	2.69	3.96	3.00	0.43	0.77
Leaving Cert.	0.38	0.44	0.40	0.38	0.20	0.43
Douring official	9.97	7.13	9.14	4.29	2.29	4.71
Diploma/3rd level	0.54	0.74	0.54	0.77	0.22	0.68
2.p.c	10.1	9.77	9.52	6.97	1.72	6.14
University	0.81	1.10	0.74	1.05	0.82	1.07
2	16.2	13.8	13.5	9.54	7,39	8.62
Industry UE rate	0.52	0.52	0.47	0.58	0.75	0.59
,,	4.03	2.10	3.16	1.43	2.94	1.90
Occupation UE rate	-0.84	-0.61	-1.08	-0.17	-0.48	-0.07
	-4.00	-1.22	-4.21	-1.95	-1.31	-0.10
Urban	0.07	0.08	0.07	-0.00	0.07	0.17
	2.32	1.87	2.05	-0.00	1.32	3.08
Dublin	0.01	0.06	0.02	0.03	-0.04	0.07
	0.22	1.30	0.59	0.38	-0.67	1.19
"Served your time"	-0.00	-0.13	0.01	-0.00	-0.01	-0.14
	-0.13	-1.82	0.20	-0.00	-0.26	-1.59
R ²	0.50	0.49	0.42	0.53	0.40	0.44
Sample size	1215	779	811	329	404	450
SE	0.38	0.43	0.36	0.42	0.40	0.43

Table 4.2: Wage Equations for Men and Women Classified by Marital Status

Notes: 1. t-statistics in small type, italicised

2. All equations were estimated by ordinary least squares.

3. The reference groups for the dummy variables (educational levels, urban, Dublin and "served your time") are: no educational qualification beyond primary certificate, living in a rural area (and therefore outside Dublin) and not having "served your time". Thus, the coefficient for an educational qualification measures the effect of having that qualification as against the base case of having no qualification beyond primary level; the coefficient for urban measures the effect of being in an urban area rather than a rural area; and the coefficient of the Dublin variable measures the effect of being in Dublin over and above the effect of being in an urban area.

It might be expected that trade qualifications (as represented by answers to the question "Did you ever 'serve your time' or otherwise become qualified in any trade or craft?") would, other things being equal, have a positive influence on wages. But this is not in fact the case: these qualifications do not have a significant influence on wages for either men or women. The positive coefficients on industry-specific unemployment rates are somewhat puzzling, but are largely offset by negative coefficients on occupation-specific unemployment rates; the overall results are not, in any event, sensitive to the exclusion or inclusion of these variables. Those living in urban areas tend to receive higher wages, with similar point estimates for men and women; but there is a higher margin of error on the estimate for women. The *additional* effect of living in Dublin is not significantly different from zero. Overall, about half of the variation in wage rates between individuals is explained by the variables included in the equations.

We can now decompose the average (logarithmic) gap between male and female wages along the lines described in Section 4.2. The decomposition is extended to take account of time out of the labour force, following Wright and Ermisch (1991).

$$\overline{\log w_m} - \overline{\log w_f} = \beta_m (\overline{X}_m - \overline{X}_f) + (\beta_m - \beta_f) \overline{X}_f - (\hat{\alpha}_m H_m - \hat{\alpha}_f H_f)$$
$$\hat{\alpha} = (\beta^{ynw}, \beta^{ynw^2})$$
$$H = (\overline{ynw}, \overline{ynw^2})'$$

ynw = years not worked

The effects of time spent out of the labour force are *not* further decomposed into portions measuring an "explained" component (due to differences in average employment interruptions) and an "unexplained" component (due to differences in coefficients attaching to employment interruptions). The basic reason for this is that the female employment interruptions are typically quite long, whereas the male employment interruptions are much shorter. The results then become highly sensitive to the standardisation chosen, as explained in Callan (1991). This sensitivity arises from the fact that the estimated coefficients reflect the very different patterns of male and female employment interruptions. Many of the female non-employment spells are, in effect, outside the range over which the male coefficients are estimated. As a result, therefore, we concentrate on the *net* effect of employment interruptions on the male-female wage differential, which is not influenced by these problems.

where

(1) All	(2) Married	(3) Not Married
0.289	0.279	0.088
8.8	21.5	-4.6
40.3	13.6	-21.4
50.8	65.0	126.1
0.147	0.181	0.112
0.026	0.043	0.037
15.9	19.9	11.9
	(1) All 0.289 8.8 40.3 50.8 0.147 0.026 15.9	(1) (2) All Married 0.289 0.279 8.8 21.5 40.3 13.6 50.8 65.0 0.147 0.181 0.026 0.043 15.9 19.9

Table 4.3: Decomposition of Wage Differential between Men and Women, Ireland, 1987

Notes: a. Calculated as per Stewart (1987).

The average male wage was about 32 per cent higher than the average female wage for all employees in this sample. The analysis suggests that about half of this gap could be attributed to differences in characteristics such as education and length of experience, and to time spent out of the labour market. This leaves a residual of about 16 per cent which cannot be explained in this way. In other words, the analysis suggests that if the sample women's characteristics were rewarded in precisely the same way as men's, their wages would be about 16 per cent higher.

The analysis of married and non-married sub-samples suggests rather different conclusions than those which might be drawn from the simpler descriptive analysis of these groups conducted in Chapter 3. That analysis showed a very small wage gap between non-married men and women, but a substantial gap between the hourly wages of married men and women. It might be thought, on the basis of these results, that discrimination could not be a significant problem in the younger age groups which dominate the non-married samples; and that the gap between married men and women reflected differences in age, experience, and time spent out of employment. But the econometric analysis undertaken here shows that the qualifications and experience of non-married women are such that they would be expected to gain higher wages than their male counterparts. The fact that they do not actually earn higher wages on average shows, therefore, that discrimination could still be a problem in the younger age groups. The econometric analysis does concur with the simple descriptive analysis in suggesting that the wage adjustment index is, along with the observed wage gap, lower for the non-married group. A reduction in discrimination in wages and employment opportunities over time could have given rise to this result, though other explanations are also possible.

The basic reason why non-married female employees would be expected to earn higher wages than their male counterparts is that they tend, on average, to have higher educational qualifications. This is shown in an appendix to this chapter, which shows the comparative educational and other characteristics of men and women in each of the sub-samples. The highest qualification for 58 per cent of the non-married male employees is the Intermediate Certificate or below; the corresponding figure for female employees is 40 per cent. About 44 per cent of female employees have a Leaving Certificate, as against 32 per cent of men; while 16 per cent of women and 10 per cent of men have qualifications above Leaving Certificate level. Despite somewhat shorter average work experience and slightly longer periods out of employment, these higher educational qualifications are enough to suggest that non-married women would gain higher wages than non-married men if their characteristics were rewarded in the same way.

As was emphasised at the beginning of this section, the results of this econometric analysis must be qualified to take into account the fact that some information required for it was not available for all cases in the survey. If the decomposition of the wage gap in the wider ESRI sample was similar to that found for the econometric sample, one would find that about half of the 20 percentage point gap was explained by differences in characteristics. This would leave a gap of about 10 percentage points still unexplained. The wage adjustment index measuring the rise in wages which an average woman would experience if rewarded in the same way as men are currently rewarded would be about 12 per cent. However, the fact that a greater proportion of the differential was explained for the married as against the unmarried group suggests that this simple procedure is not adequate, and that if full information were available, the estimate of the wage adjustment index would be slightly higher than 12 per cent.

4.5 Further Analysis of Married Sub-Sample

A more detailed analysis of the sub-sample of married men and women is desirable for a number of reasons. First, it is necessary to take into account the impact of married women's labour force participation decisions on the results. Only a minority of married women actually participate in the paid labour market at present. If this minority consists disproportionately of women who are in a position to command high wages, relative to their human capital attributes, then the wage gap between employees may give a distorted picture. A simple example may help to illustrate this point. Suppose that two women with identical measured human capital characteristics receive wage offers which reflect these characteristics and some random element. Now suppose that the woman receiving the higher wage offer participates, while the other woman does not. Only the higher wage will be observed in the labour market; but the average wage offer for a woman with these characteristics is below that observed wage. Thus the gap between wage offers to men and women may be greater than that between observed wages for men and women.¹³

A second reason for undertaking additional analysis of the sub-sample of married men and women is that results for this sub-sample can be directly compared with the results reported by Wright and Ermisch (1991) for the UK. The restriction of the sample to married men and women has some implications which must be noted. First, the average wage gap for single persons (who are typically younger), is lower than that for married persons, as illustrated in Chapter 3. Second, there is evidence from international studies that married men tend to have higher earnings than single men, other things being equal; but married women may have lower earnings than single women, other things being equal. For each of these reasons, the average wage gap for all persons, married and not married. Thus, the analysis reported here should not be taken as supplanting that in the previous section. It represents a summary of the work undertaken in Callan (1991).

4.5.1 Human Capital Approach

Two specifications of the wage equation were used for men.¹⁴ The first uses *potential* experience (measured by years since first leaving full-time education) as the measure of labour market experience, while also including educational qualifications and a set of variables reflecting, for the most part, the influence of labour demand.¹⁵ This specification is close to that employed by Wright and Ermisch (1991). The second specification for men uses men's *actual* labour market experience instead, and also includes

¹³In principle, it is possible that the wage offer gap will be below the observed wage gap, but later analysis shows that this is not the case here.

¹⁴Full details are given in Callan (1991).

¹⁵The variables in question were unemployment rates specific to the individual's industry, occupation and region as well as dummies for urban areas and residence in Dublin.

a measure of time spent unemployed or out of the labour market. For women, each of these two approaches was estimated using two different techniques. First an ordinary least squares (OLS) estimator, and second an estimator correcting for the influence of self-selection into the paid workforce (the Heckman two-stage estimator). The wage equation estimates, fully reported in Callan (1991), are broadly similar to those reported here.

The decomposition set out in the previous section is now extended to take account of possible self-selection bias in a natural way. Instead of focusing on the actual wage gap observed in the labour market, we attempt, when using the Heckman estimator, to compare the gap between the average wage "on offer" to men and women, taking account of the fact that women receiving higher wage offers, other things being equal, are more likely to take up a job. We then consider the proportion of that gap which is accounted for by differences in experience or other attributes, and the proportion of the gap which is unexplained, which is used to construct an wage adjustment index.

			_	
Decomposition	(1)	(2)	· (3)	(4)
Male equation*	OP	OP	0A	UA
Female Equation [*]	OA	HA	OA	HA
Observed wage gap (logs)	0.296	0.296	0.296	0.296
Wage offer gap (logs)	0.296	0.398	0.296	0.398
of which % due to:				
Years not worked	32.5	28.8	21.8	20.9
Other attributes	14.5	10.7	12.7	9.3
Residual	53.0	60.5	65.6	69.8
$\overline{X}_{j}(\beta_{m}-\beta_{j})$	0.155	0.241	0.192	0.278
ASE ^b of $\overline{X}_{f}(\beta_{m} - \beta_{f})$	0.044	0.075	0.043	0.074
Wage adjustment index (D _r)	16.8	27.3	21.1	32.0

 Table 4.4: Decomposition of Wage Differential between Married Men and Married

 Women, Ireland, 1987

Notes: a. Acronyms for equations: Method: O=OLS, H=Heckman Experience: P=potential, A=actual

b. Calculated as per Stewart (1987).

The estimates shown in Table 4.4 are based on actual experience for women, and either actual or potential experience for men.¹⁶ They span a somewhat wider range than those of Wright and Ermisch; but they show a similar central tendency (about 20-25 per cent). Thus, estimates of D_f for the married sub-sample in Ireland in 1987 resemble those for the married population in Great Britain in 1980. The self-selection term in the female wage equation has quite a strong upward impact on the point estimate of D_f in every case, in contrast to the British estimates (17 to 27 per cent, 21 to 32 per cent). This arises from the fact that the analysis suggests women who can command high wages (relative to their characteristics) are more likely to participate. However, the fact that the relevant (λ) coefficient is significant only at the 10 per cent level is reflected in the increased standard error on the estimate of the wage adjustment index, which rises from 0.04 to 0.07. As a result the higher estimates are not, in statistical terms, significantly different from the lower ones.

Decompositions (1) and (2) are closest to the methods preferred by Wright and Ermisch (1991), given that their data did not include men's actual labour market experience. The analysis here shows that the effect of men's unemployment experience on their wages is significant. Comparison with decompositions (3) and (4) respectively show the effects of taking men's actual unemployment experience into account. The proportion of the wage offer gap attributable to years of unemployment or non-employment falls from about 30 per cent to something closer to 20 per cent. The estimate of D_f increases by 4 or 5 percentage points - illustrating a point made earlier, that the omission of variables may affect the estimate of the wage adjustment index. These changes are, however, within the margins of estimation error.

¹⁶Wage equations based on women's potential experience (not shown in the table) lead to unreasonably high estimates of the wage adjustment index: they suggest that women's wages would be up to 50 per cent higher if women's characteristics were remunerated at the same rate as men's. This is unsurprising. By definition, no account is taken of home time or unemployment experience; and Irish women have tended to have education levels as high, or higher, than men's. The sample proportions shown in the appendix to this chapter are for employees only, and so do not correspond exactly with the population proportions estimated from Labour Force Survey and reported by Breen and Shortall (1991); but those figures also show women having educational qualifications at least as high as men, except for third-level qualifications in the older age groups.

Similar analysis was undertaken with a sample restricted to full-time workers.¹⁷ This resulted in a small fall in the estimate of D_f ; a similar small fall was found by Wright and Ermisch (1991).

4.5.2 Occupational Approach

To what extent can wage differentials be explained by the distribution of men and women over broad occupational categories? And can the occupational categories add to the explanation of wages and wage differentials offered by a narrower human capital model? These questions were investigated in Callan (1991), using the Irish Central Statistics Office's broad classification of occupations¹⁸, with two amendments: separate identification of the nursing and teaching occupations. This yields 10 occupational categories: producers, makers and repairers; labourers and agricultural workers; transport and communication workers; clerical workers; commerce, insurance and finance; teachers; nurses; professional and technical; other service workers; and others. Investigations at a somewhat greater level of detail led to similar conclusions.

We may report the results briefly here. A model using simply the 10 occupational dummies can provide a wage equation with a similar fit to that of the human capital model. However, it yields a much higher estimate of the wage adjustment index. In effect, this result suggests that the male-female wage gap has more to do with differences *within* these broadly defined occupational categories than with differences in the distribution of men and women across them.

A wage equation which combines the occupational dummies with experience, and/or the other human capital attributes and demand yields estimates of the wage adjustment index which are much closer to those reported earlier, though clustered about a somewhat higher central tendency (25 to 30 per cent). There is, however, a good deal of collinearity in the combined models, particularly between the educational and occupational dummies. As a result, the individual coefficients are less well determined and the overall fit of the equation improves only slightly.

¹⁷The definition of a full-time worker was one working for 30 or more hours per week; teachers working between 24 and 30 hours per week were also defined to be in full-time employment.

¹⁸The CSO occupational classification also captures some key distinctions as regards industry. Most notably, the two industries which stand out as having the highest risks of low pay in Nolan's (1993) analysis (retail and personal services) have closely corresponding occupational classifications (commerce and services).

It can be argued that the use of a finer level of occupational detail would lead to different results. Cain's (1986) survey notes that it can be claimed that "with a sufficiently narrowly defined job almost all [male-female wage] ratios would be unity. Indeed, if not, companies would risk violating the law". A similar claim could well be made in Irish circumstances. The extent to which sex differences in the detailed occupational classification were then due to discrimination (or choices influenced by discrimination), as against choices reflecting personal preferences would then be of critical importance. But as Cain notes, neither economic theory nor econometric practice have yet managed a satisfactory resolution of these issues.

4.6 Conclusions

Male and female wage equations were estimated for a general sample of male and female employees, and for sub-samples of married and non-married employees, using data from the ESRI Survey of Income Distribution, Poverty and Usage of State Services. This allows a decomposition of the overall male-female wage gap in Ireland based on more general samples than have hitherto been possible. Earlier studies have been based on quite special samples of redundant workers, young workers or academics.

The results using a human capital framework, controlling for educational qualifications, labour market experience, time spent unemployed and out of the labour market suggested that average female wage rates would be over 10 per cent higher on average if these attributes were remunerated in the same way as men's. This estimate is somewhat higher than the estimates of Reilly (1987, 1990) for the youth labour market in Ireland, but not dissimilar to the estimates of Ruane and Dobson (1990) for the academic labour market. It is substantially lower, however, than the estimate of Walsh and Whelan (1976) which was based on data collected before the introduction of equal pay and anti-discrimination legislation.

A higher estimate of the wage adjustment index was found for a sample of married employees; and a lower estimate for non-married employees. A possible explanation of this conjunction is that discrimination has had a greater impact on the wages of those in older age groups, since the non-married category is dominated by young single persons. More detailed analysis of a married sub-sample found some evidence, though not conclusive, of self-selection of women with particularly high wages into the labour market. The measured average wage gap therefore tended to understate the gap between the wages on offer to men and women. The unexplained gap between full-time workers was somewhat smaller than that for all workers (full-time and part-time). Overall, the results for married women were quite similar to those found in the UK.

The gap between male and female wages cannot be wholly accounted for by differences in educational qualifications, past labour market experience, or time spent out of the labour market. What factors might account for the substantial unexplained gap still remaining? It is important to realise that current discriminatory practices represent only one of a number of possible explanations, which may each have a role to play.

The analysis indicated that differences in hourly wage rates for part-time and full-time jobs may play a part; but that a substantial gap would still remain. Occupational effects, whether caused by segregation or voluntary choices, constitute another possibility. The analysis suggested that the distribution of men and women across broad occupational groupings added little to the explanation. Investigation using somewhat finer occupational classifications in Chapter 3 yielded similar results. As was noted there, it is quite possible that these results would be reversed at very fine levels of detail, i.e., that men and women are paid more similar rates within narrowly defined occupations. But occupational attainment at such levels of detail, incorporating distinctions between junior or senior positions within an occupation, could reflect discrimination within or outside the labour market. Such a classification may be of use in identifying the nature of the overall gap in pay. It helps to answer the narrower question of whether there is "equal pay for equal work"; but it cannot establish whether there are equal opportunities to achieve different positions in the occupational classification.

The measure of wages used in this study is based on usual earnings and usual hours of work. It may therefore be affected by such factors as overtime working or shift premia. Each of these may therefore play a role in explaining the observed wage gap, particularly if the distribution of family responsibilities leaves women less free to undertake work at premium rates. Data on the extent of overtime working in the sample suggested that this was indeed the case, but had a rather limited impact on the overall differential. Some of the analyses in the present chapter were also conducted using wage rates adjusted for overtime; these re-analyses produced very similar result to those reported here. Union membership or coverage could also play a role. Analysis of data derived from the ESRI Survey (Callan and Reilly, 1993) finds that men who are members of a union do appear to earn significantly higher wages than those who are not. Given that a higher percentage of men than of women are union members, this may also contribute to the size of the gap between the sexes. This finding suggests one route by which equal human capital attributes may not translate into equal wages: unequal bargaining power, with union members, or those in employments covered by unions, having more effective bargaining power. Once again, however, we found that re-analysis along the lines of the present chapter, but including a union membership variable, led to very similar results to those reported here.

Wage differentials may also be compensating for other differences in working conditions. On the other hand, the non-pay aspects of jobs may reinforce rather than compensate for wage differentials in other cases. Pension entitlements, for example, are often more generous in higher paid jobs. It is not clear what the net effect of these considerations would be.

Current discriminatory practices, which might be subdivided into those which are implicit and legal, and those which are outlawed, constitute another possible explanation. But a part of the unexplained gap may reflect past discrimination, in terms of promotions and career opportunities. A stylized example may help to clarify this point. A wage gap between men and women with identical attributes in terms of qualifications and experience might be due to discriminatory practices barring women from promotion within a particular occupational structure. The removal of such discriminatory practices would leave men and women on an equal footing as regards future promotions. But the erosion of the wage gap which emerged under the discriminatory system would, under these circumstances, be a gradual process. Thus a study of the type undertaken here, conducted some time after the removal of discriminatory practices, could still find a wage gap persisting. The extent to which the unexplained gaps found in the present study reflect past discrimination is therefore an important topic for further investigation.

Appendix 4: Means of Variables Used in Wage Equations

	Means		
Variable	Men	Women	
Years not worked	0.9	3.9	
Square of years not worked	7.0	62.0	
Years worked	19.6	10.4	
Square of years worked	550.7	187.4	
Educational qualifications:	%	%	
Some 2nd level/Group Certificate	22.9	13.0	
Intermediate Certificate	14.7	17.6	
Leaving Certificate	23.5	37.2	
Diploma/Other third level	6.0	10.1	
University degree	9.1	10.0	
Industry unemployment rate	13.5	10.7	
Occupational unemployment rate	12.0	7.9	
Urban	51.9	54.7	
Dublin	33.9	35.7	
"Served your time"	25.6	5.3	

Table A4.1: Means of Variables used in Wage Equations: All Employees

Table A4.2: Means of Variables used in Wage Equations: Married Employees

	Means	
Variable	Men	Women
Years not worked	0.9	6.8
Square of years not worked	4.9	113.8
Years worked	24.8	14.0
Square of years worked	731.1	249.4
Educational qualifications:	%	%
Some 2nd level/Group Certificate	23.3	14.0
Intermediate Certificate	10.4	15.8
Leaving Certificate	19.1	28.3
Diploma/Other third level	7.3	10.3
University degree	10.3	14.9
Industry unemployment rate	13.2	9.1
Occupational unemployment rate	11.7	7.2
Urban	55.2	48.0
Dublin	36.0	32.5
"Served your time"	26.3	3.6

	Means	
Variable	Men	Women
Years not worked	1.0	1.7
Square of years not worked	4.9	24.2
Years worked	9.2	7.9
Square of years worked	188.6	142.0
Educational qualifications:	%	%
Some 2nd level/Group Certificate	22.0	12.2
Intermediate Certificate	23.3	18.9
Leaving Certificate	32.4	43.8
Diploma/Other third level	3.5	10.0
University degree	6.4	6.4
Industry unemployment rate	14.1	11.9
Occupational unemployment rate	12.6	8.4
Urban	45.3	59.6
Dublin	29.7	38.0
"Served your time"	24.3	6.4

.

,

,

Table A4.3: Means of Variables used in Wage Equations: Non-Married Employees

Chapter 5

EMPLOYMENT AND FAMILY COMMITMENTS

5.1 Introduction

A substantial part of the gap between men's and women's wages is explained by the fact that the average female employee has spent fewer years in employment than her male counterpart. In this chapter we explore some of the reasons for this difference. The factors we examine are sometimes thought of as "barriers" to women's participation in the labour market. This nomenclature suggests an absolute: women are prevented from participating. A more general perspective is adopted here, focusing on factors which make it less likely that women will participate in the labour market.

We may distinguish between demand-side and supply-side factors. A bar on the employment of married women, such as existed until the early 1970s in the Irish civil service, is perhaps the clearest form of demand-side restriction, though other factors such as employer attitudes or hiring practices could also be relevant. Supply-side factors tending to restrict women's labour market participation include caring for children, and caring for elderly or infirm relatives. In this chapter we focus on such supply-side factors, on which new evidence from the ESRI 1987 Survey can be brought to bear.

5.2 Children, Child-Care Costs and Women's Economic Opportunities

As noted above, the lower average labour market experience of female employees reflects, in large measure, the fact that many women, especially married women, tend to leave the labour market during the years of child-bearing and child rearing. About three-quarters of the married women who are not in the paid labour force said that child-care or other family responsibilities¹ were the main reason why they were not seeking paid work. The fact that women with children have lower rates of participation in the labour market than those without children is strikingly illustrated in Figure 5.1. For women in each age group an additional child reduces the

¹Blackwell (1989, Table 3.11). "Other family responsibilities" could include caring for elderly relatives, as discussed in the next section.

rate of participation in the labour market. This effect is, however, particularly strong in the two younger age groups, where the ages of the children concerned would also tend to be younger.





Source: Blackwell (1989), based on Labour Force Survey 1987.

More sophisticated econometric modelling (Callan and Farrell, 1992), which takes into account the many factors influencing married women's decisions on labour market participation, also shows a strong influence from the number of young children. In particular, there is strong evidence that the presence of a pre-school child (aged 0 to 4) makes it much less likely that a woman will participate in the paid labour market. There is no similar effect in the case of men.

Social norms and personal wishes obviously play a role in giving rise to these results. Fine-Davis (1983) found that a substantial majority of mothers outside the paid labour force cited a desire to be with the children when they were young as the main reason they were not employed. Results such as these, however, reflect not only personal preferences, but also the financial constraints which enter into the decision process. Browning's (1992) review of the international research on the labour supply of women with children stresses the difficulties of identifying the balance between these two forces - preferences and costs - in determining women's labour market participation, and the mode of childcare chosen. However, the international evidence does suggest that the availability and cost of childcare, and the degree to which state financial support to families depends on a mother's labour market status, are relevant to women's labour market decisions.

McKenna (1988)documents. the limited availability of publicly-funded childcare in Ireland. Estimates of the numbers of working parents paying for childcare, or making other arrangements for the care of their children during their working hours, can be derived from the ESRI's 1987 Survey. A total of 123 individuals in the ESRI sample reported making some arrangement for the care of children during working hours. While this figure represents approximately 50,000 individuals in the population, the small sample size limits the analysis which can be undertaken. A first point which should be made is that almost 90 per cent of who reported making arrangements for childcare were women. A large proportion of the individuals had an arrangement (usually with a relative) for unpaid childcare. Most of those using paid childcare had their children cared for somewhere other than their own home, but a substantial minority paid to have their children cared for in their own homes.

Method	%
Paid care in own home	13.2
Paid care elsewhere	48.9
Unpaid care	37.9
	100.0

Table 5.1: Main Method of Childcare Used by Working Parents, 1987

Source: ESRI Survey, 1987.

The costs reported by those who used paid childcare are set out in Table 5.2. Most working mothers paid between $\pounds 10$ and $\pounds 40$ per week; almost one-third paid between $\pounds 30$ and $\pounds 39$ per week.

Expenditure group (£ p w)	%
1-9	9.1
10-19	22.1
20-29	19.5
30-39	32.5
40-49	7.8
50-60	9.1
	100.0

Table 5.2: Weekly Expenditure on Childcare, 1987

Source: ESRI Survey, 1987.

The state's commitment to equality of opportunity between the sexes is of major importance in determining the appropriate policy towards There are, however, several other factors which are also childcare. relevant. Many of these are discussed in Callan and Farrell (1992). They distinguished between a state role in regulating the quality of childcare, and the issue of state financial support for childcare. They concluded that the strongest arguments for state financial support of childcare were on the grounds of equality of opportunity between the sexes, developmental benefits for children of early education, and the distortion of childcare decisions by the tax treatment of married couples. It was emphasised, however, that tax relief would not be an appropriate mechanism for providing such support. It would concentrate the benefits on those with the highest tax rates, and might be of little or no assistance to those on low incomes. The argument that childcare should be treated like a work expense, and therefore be tax-deductible, was found to be weak.

5.3 Care-Giving and Women's Labour Market Participation

Caring for family members with special needs tends to be done predominantly by women. O'Connor, Smyth and Whelan (1988) found that of those caring for an elderly person within the household, almost 4 out of 5 are women. The fact that women tend to take a disproportionate share of these caring responsibilities may reduce their labour market experience, and thereby contribute to the total gap between male and female hourly earnings. In this section, we examine the extent of the role played by women and men as carers, and its impact on labour market participation.²

²The impact of labour market experience on wages is documented in the preceding chapter.
We draw on a number of recent studies of care for the elderly, and some additional data provided by the ESRI Survey of Income Distribution, Poverty and Usage of State Services.

The analysis of O'Connor, Smyth and Whelan (1988) finds a large discrepancy between the total number of care-givers estimated from the responses of elderly persons, and the number of individuals reporting themselves as care-givers. This discrepancy arises particularly where the elderly person and the care-giver lived in separate households. The main focus here is on care-giving within the household. But it should be borne in mind that there are, in addition, many individuals who are giving care to non-household members as well. O'Connor, Smyth and Whelan (1988) estimate that about one-quarter of the elderly who regard themselves as receiving care are cared for by a non-household member. Just over 70 per cent of those who regard themselves as caring for an elderly person *outside* the household are women.

A substantial number of those caring for an elderly person in the same household are themselves elderly: 1 in 4 is over 65. (O'Connor, Smyth and Whelan, 1988). One might expect that such persons would, in any case, not be in the labour market. For that reason, some of our later analysis is restricted to those in the age groups most likely to be labour market participants (aged 20 to 59). O'Connor, Ruddle *et al.* (1988) found that about half of the carers spent between 4 and 7 hours per day on caring tasks; while a third regarded themselves as on-call for 24 hours a day, even if not performing specific tasks. Blackwell, O'Shea, Moane and Murray (1991) confirm the large time commitment involved in care for the elderly at home: they found the average time spent on caring activities was 47 hours per week.

O'Connor, Ruddle *et al.* found that about 1 in 6 of the carers they studied worked outside the home. Fewer female carers engaged in such work (1 in 10). But most female carers regarded themselves as having given up employment for other reasons (59 per cent saying they did so to raise a family) than specifically in order to take up the role of carer (17 per cent citing this reason). Blackwell *et al.* adopt a different perspective. They focus on the changes in labour market participation which carers say they would adopt if they ceased their caring role. Of those carers not currently doing paid work, about 36 per cent say that they would seek paid work, with 64 per cent saying they would not seek paid work.

The data from the ESRI Survey on Income Distribution, Poverty and Usage of State Services provide additional insights into the impact of caring on labour market participation. Information was collected on whether any household member needed special care or attention, and if so, on which household members provided this care and attention. Thus, care-giving is defined by the respondents, and the analysis undertaken here does not attempt to establish the level of care provided. Furthermore, two or more household members may be caring for the person needing special attention.

	Age of person needing special care				
	0-20	21-59	Över 60	All ages	
Married women	68	50	59	177	
Non-Married women	10	14	24	48	
Married men	41	16	19	76	
Non-Married Men	0	3	10	13	
	119	83	112	314	

Table 5.3: Care-Givers Classified by Sex and Marital Status, 1987

Source: ESRI Survey, 1987.

Table 5.3 sets out the numbers of individuals reported as care-givers in this way, classified by sex and marital status. It is clear that most care-givers are women, and most of these women are married. When the estimates are weighted to be nationally representative, about 70 per cent of the care-givers are women, which is in line with the other estimates cited above. The 314 carers in the sample represent approximately 83,000 individuals in the population. Those caring for persons aged over 60 represent about 30,000 individuals in the population. This latter figure can be compared with the estimate of 50,800 derived by O'Connor, Smyth and Whelan. It seems likely, therefore, that respondents to the 1987 ESRI Survey equated "special care or attention" with something greater than the "regular occasional care" which was the minimal requirement in the O'Connor, Smyth and Whelan Survey.

	All ages		Aged 20-59	
	Employment rate	Number of cases	Employment rate	Number of cases
Women caring for those with special needs	19.5	225	22.9	172
Other women	31.3	3294	37.9	2828
Men caring for those with special needs	54.2	89	69.1	62
Other Men	65.3	4257	75.7	3010

Table 5.4: Employment Rates for Care-Givers and Others, 1987

Source: ESRI Survey, 1987.

Table 5.4 shows the rates of employment (including self-employment/farming) for male and female care-givers, and others. Care-givers have lower employment rates than others for either sex. When the analysis excludes age groups likely to be in full-time education or retired, the employment rate for women carers is substantially lower than for other women. The employment rate for male carers is also lower than for others, but not substantially so.

 Table 5.5:
 Employment Rates for Female Care-Givers and Others by Marital Status, 1987

	All ages		Aged 20-59	
	Employment rate	Number of cases	Employment rate	Number of cases
Married women caring for those with special needs	16.4	177	18.2	139
Other married women	24.2	2379	27.4	1926
Non-married women caring for those with special needs	30.8	48	41.2	33
Other non-married women	42.9	1545	64.8	902

Source: ESRI Survey, 1987.

Table 5.5 suggests that care-giving has a greater impact on the employment rate of non-married women than of married women.

Caring for an elderly relative or other persons with special needs may affect not only *whether* the carer is employed, but the nature of their employment. For example, a woman who was in full-time employment may change to a part-time job, in order to care for a relative. Finch and Mason (1990) document the importance of such compromise strategies in a UK context. They also point out that conflicts can arise between *potential* caring responsibilities and employment opportunities. For example, a woman whose elderly mother is currently in good health might turn down a job which involved moving to a distant location because of possible future caring responsibilities.

The options for care of the elderly and of others needing special care raise many complex issues. They cannot be reduced to simple choices such as home-based versus institutional care, or maintaining versus giving up employment. Blackwell et al. suggest that community care was initially viewed as a better form of care, as well as a less costly one; but that experience with community care policies has highlighted unforeseen costs. They suggest that "the more appropriate question now is under what circumstances, with what groups, and with what back-up services can community care offer a better quality and less expensive form of care than institutional services." The Blackwell et al. study shows the complexity of such calculations. The opportunity costs of caring, in terms of wages forgone, are one element of these complex calculations. But the dynamic costs in terms of effects on future wages are not taken into account. Both of these aspects are relevant to decisions on the optimal level of support for home-based care. For example, extension of the opening hours of day care centres and day hospitals to be more compatible with carers undertaking a normal working day would represent one such option.

5.4 Conclusions

This chapter has explored two of the main supply-side factors tending to reduce women's labour market participation, and thereby reduce women's potential earnings.³ The available evidence amply demonstrates that the presence of children, particularly pre-school children, makes it much less likely that a woman will participate in the paid labour market. The extent to which this reflects personal preferences, as against economic

³The exclusion of demand side factors from this chapter should not be taken to imply that they are unimportant.

incentives created by the tax system and the costs of childcare cannot be assessed so readily; it is, however, of crucial importance for policy decisions in this area. If financial considerations are the dominant force, then reductions in the cost of childcare could have substantial implications for female labour supply: but if the observed correlations instead reflect the strength of personal preferences, reduced childcare costs would have a much more limited impact on women's participation. There are substantial inherent difficulties in disentangling the effects of costs and of preferences, which extensive international research⁴ has not resolved. Similar considerations apply to the observed (negative) correlation between women's labour market participation and caring for relatives with special needs. In each case, there may be an additional cost associated with participation in the labour market; but there may also be an additional value placed on time spent out of the labour market in caring for the child or elderly relative.

64

⁴Reviewed by Browning (1992).

Chapter 6

POLICY ISSUES

6.1 Introduction

Actions at four different levels may have an impact on the division of labour between the sexes and the relative rewards for the work undertaken: societal, institutional, interpersonal and personal.¹ In this study we concentrate on the societal level, focusing on government policy and legislation; but other institutions (such as trade unions, employer organizations, individual firms, schools and colleges) may also play a role in bringing about greater equality of opportunity. Changes in the nature of interpersonal relations, and changes in individual attitudes are also relevant; but while some reference to the role played by such factors will be made, they are largely outside the scope of the present study.

A wide range of policy measures have been adopted in various countries aimed at the reduction of male-female wage inequalities. In this chapter we discuss the possible goals of public policy in this area, in order to clarify the context in which such measures have been introduced. We then consider the different forms of policy adopted and review of the international literature assessing their effectiveness. The Irish experience is reviewed in the light of the international findings, and we conclude by drawing together the prospects for future developments.

6.2 Policy Objectives and Strategies

What are the objectives of policy in the area of labour market equality between the sexes? Elias and Purcell (1988) comment that "The concepts of equality and equality of opportunity are difficult to define, and even among individuals, organisations and governments aspiring to pursue these elusive ideals, there is considerable variation in both the goals aimed for and the means perceived as appropriate to achieve them" (p. 196). Unequal labour market outcomes could be due to unequal opportunities, unequal incentives to participate in the labour market, or to differences in tastes and preferences between the sexes. Equality of labour market outcomes represents one possible goal. It would require that each of these possible causes of unequal outcomes be tackled; but this implies that policy

¹Rapoport and Rapoport (1976).

measures would offset any possible difference in preferences as between work in the labour market and work in the home as between the sexes. Equality of labour market opportunity represents a more limited goal, which allows for differences in preferences. It can be seen as underpinned by a philosophy of meritocratic individualism, whereby individuals have the right to be treated no worse than others with the same qualifications and experience (Townshend-Smith, 1989).

Unequal incentives could, in principle, also contribute to differences in labour market outcomes. This can be demonstrated most clearly by an extreme, and hypothetical, example. Consider a tax/transfer system which allowed women equal labour market opportunities, and *greater* non-labour market opportunities than men, thereby offering them lower incentives to participate in paid work. This would be the case, for example, if women were offered a cash payment for caring full-time for their own children, but no similar offer were made to men. Even with identical tastes and preferences women's participation and average work experience would tend to be lower than men's. Over time, this could result in women having *lower* wages than men (though a rise in women's wages because of a fall in their labour supply would also be possible), despite having equal labour market opportunities and identical preferences.² Thus, it could be argued that equality of incentive as well as equality of labour market opportunities would be needed for equality of labour market outcome.³

Another major distinction between equality of outcome and equality of opportunity is, however, that differences in personal preferences which affect the extent and nature of labour market participation could give rise to differences in the wages of average male and female employees. This is where analysis of the type conducted in Chapter 4 is particularly useful. It suggests, on the one hand, that about half of the overall wage gap of 20 percentage points can be explained, mainly by differences in the labour market experience of the average male and female employee. On the other hand, it shows that, even if differences in past labour market participation

²Under the conditions of this example women would be expected to be at least as well off as men in terms of total welfare, even if their labour market participation was less, because they could if they wished make exactly the same choices as men.

³Elias and Purcell view this as "a fundamental incompatibility between equality of opportunity and being given special treatment in a way which reinforces the idea that childrearing and housekeeping are essentially women's responsibility" (p. 209). But the example shows that equality of labour market opportunity and equality of incentive can, instead, be regarded as separate dimensions.

were attributable wholly to individual preferences, this could not explain the size of the wage gap currently observed: a residual gap of over 10 percentage points would remain.

There is, however, no simple correspondence between the alternative policy objectives and the standard decomposition of the wage gap into "explained" and "unexplained" portions. Elimination of any remaining discrimination would tend to reduce or eliminate the "unexplained" gap; but it would also tend to reduce the "explained" gap. Some differences in average labour market experience, which contribute to the "explained" gap, may be due, for example, to unequal rewards in the labour market, or unequal opportunities to participate, and not simply to differences in preferences.

How do the policy measures actually adopted in different countries relate to these alternative objectives? Building on the classification of Gunderson (1989), we may distinguish several different types of policy aimed at reducing the male-female wage gap.

- 1 (a) Traditional "equal pay" policies, designed to prevent wage discrimination for the same job in the same establishment.
 - (b) Broader policies aiming to ensure "equal pay for work of equal value". There is considerable variation in the scope of such legislation across countries, with some coming closer in practice to the traditional "equal pay" model and others approximating more closely the "comparable worth" legislation instituted in several US states. This tends to be based on systematic job evaluations in which all jobs within an establishment are uniformly rated according to the level of human capital and skills and the working conditions involved.⁴
- 2 (a) Policies on "equal employment opportunity", which attempt to prevent the discriminatory relegation of women to low-paid jobs. Elimination of direct discrimination of this type would also have indirect effects: women would no longer be discouraged from investing in education, training, and on-the-job experience by the prospect of lower rewards than their male counterparts for such investments.

⁴While no standardised system of job evaluation exists, the same four basic "compensable factors" are usually considered - skills and knowledge required, effort, responsibility, and working conditions - with the weighting assigned to each chosen by the system designer.

(b) Policies along the lines of US "Affirmative Action" programmes, designed to overcome the difficulties in monitoring equality of opportunity by ensuring that the results reflect this principle. They are also a response to the perceived need to address the effects of apparently neutral, but effectively discriminatory processes which have built up in the system as a result of a history of inequality. They generally set numerical targets and timetables for hiring and promotions, aiming to ensure that the sex composition of organisations mirrors that of the surrounding relevant labour market.

3 Policies which facilitate women's participation on equal terms in the labour market, which may involve actions outside the labour market, such as the provision of day-care and relevant education and training, in an attempt to improve women's productivity levels and assist the full integration of women into the labour market. These may involve adaptation *to* the jobs, by the provision of support services (e.g., care for children after school hours, or day-care for younger children), or adaptation *of* the jobs, making them more compatible with family commitments (e.g., parental leave, flexible hours, job-sharing).

Equal pay policies, in either narrower or broader forms, and equal employment opportunity policies can all be seen as reflecting a goal of equality of opportunity. It is less clear whether target-setting or affirmative action policies represent simply an alternative means of achieving that goal or a different goal of equality of outcome. It could be argued that affirmative action policies are motivated by considerations of equality of opportunity, but reflect a view that it is less difficult and costly to monitor the outcomes of hiring and promotion processes rather than the processes themselves. There now exists a considerable body of international literature on the experience and impact of each of these forms of policy which will be reviewed in the next section.

In recent years, however, the importance of facilitative policies to the achievement of the goal of equality of opportunity has come to be increasingly stressed. The equal opportunity interpretation of facilitative policies views them as necessary for women to compete in the labour market on equal terms. In particular, it views the provision of subsidised childcare as a *sine qua non* of true equality of opportunity, because of the effects of child-related interruptions to women's labour market participation and earnings. We will return to this issue after considering the international and Irish experience with the other forms of policy.

68

6.3 Policy Instruments: International Experience

This section outlines the international experience with the forms of policy described earlier, drawing principally upon recent reviews by Gunderson (1989) and OECD (1991). As seen in Chapter 2, relative female earnings have increased substantially in most European countries and in Australia during the past 30 years, with more than half the wage gap disappearing in a number of countries. While the rise in the female to male wage ratio slowed or halted in many countries during the last decade, considerable increases in female earnings have been reported in Canada and the US. The period during which these changes have occurred coincides with the implementation of a range of policies in many countries designed to reduce the wage gap and facilitate the fuller incorporation of women into the labour market. The extent to which the policy measures adopted may be considered responsible for the observed reduction of the wage gap is uncertain, however, as empirical evidence of their effectiveness tends to be scarce and difficult to interpret.

In many cases the implementation of several different types of legislation during the same period causes difficulties in the estimation of the impact of any one form of policy. In addition, it has been argued that the real effects of anti-discrimination policies on the wages of women with more labour market experience may, in some cases, have been obscured by the general increase in labour market participation rates amongst young and relatively inexperienced women which has occurred over the last 20 years, especially in so far as this increase has been concentrated in relatively low-paid occupations. Most importantly perhaps, it should be recognized that the very enactment of legislation often signifies a change in society and in social attitudes which may, in itself, be responsible for the changes in all aspects of womens' experience of the labour market, and that many changes in the size, composition, educational standards and attitudes of the female labour force were occurring during the period in which most of this legislation was enacted.

In considering the varying levels of success in reducing the wage gap in different countries, it is of interest to consider not just the different measures adopted, but also the means by which these policies are implemented. A recent study (OECD, 1991) discusses the variations which occur in methods of implementation from country to country and points out their possible significance in influencing the effectiveness of policy. In general, countries with relatively centralised national wage-fixing systems have tended to rely heavily on collective agreements to implement policy on equal pay. Where the wage-setting procedure is more decentralised, legislation has played a greater role.

6.3.1 Equal Pay Policy

The principle of "equal pay for work of equal value" is included in the preamble to the constitution of the International Labour Office and was reaffirmed in Convention 100 and Recommendation 90 in 1951, which called for the application of the principle through legislation, collective bargaining and national wage-determination systems. For many years this Convention was interpreted in a narrow sense as applying simply to equal pay for the same or substantially similar work. As the significance of occupational segregation and the undervaluation of traditionally "female" occupations in causing the wage gap came to be realised, however, a broader interpretation, allowing the equation of wages across occupations, became more common. Since the 1970s policy has been expanded in many countries to incorporate this broader definition. Precise definitions of equal value or guidelines for its measurement are often excluded from legislation and policy statements and thus left open to interpretation, however. As a result interpretations of equal value tend to vary considerably from country to country and from case to case. Thus, a brief review of experience with legislation on a country-by-country basis is needed.

The US passed an Equal Pay Act, guaranteeing equal pay for like work, as early as 1963, and added to it a year later with the inclusion of provisions forbidding wage and employment discrimination on the basis of sex (as well as race and colour) in the Civil Rights Act of 1964. The effects of the legislation appear to have been fairly limited, with no observable reduction in the wage gap occurring in the decade following its passage, although it has been argued (Beller, 1980) that the earnings ratio was raised above the level it would otherwise have been in these years. In recent years more intensive attempts have been made in the US to put the principle of "equal pay for work of equal value" into practice. The necessity of adopting a method to calculate "equal value" has brought the concept of "comparable worth" to the fore.

In 1981, the US Supreme Court ruled that comparable worth comparisons were not ruled out under the Equal Employment Opportunities Act of 1964. The implementation of comparable worth policy remains concentrated at state level. By 1984, 25 states had comparable worth laws in place, with just under half of these intending to use wage adjustment procedures based on these for their public sector

employees. Where these adjustments have been made, they have typically involved wage increases in predominantly female jobs of between 10 per cent and 20 per cent. In view of the limited number of states in which comparable worth legislation has actually been implemented, the fact that its implementation has tended to be restricted to the public sector, and the restriction of comparisons to a within-establishment basis, the *aggregate* impact is not likely to have been substantial. There have been conflicting estimates of the potential impact of federal legislation on a similar basis; and the size of potential adverse employment effects in the private sector is also a matter of dispute.

Studies of the effects of equal pay legislation in Canada also fail to find evidence of any significant impact on the aggregate wage gap, despite the fact that every province has some form of basic equal pay legislation in place. Neither Gunderson's (1975) time-series analysis of the impact of the 1969 Employment Standards Act, nor the OECD's assessment of the 1978 Human Rights Act find a clear impact on the wage gap. The impact of the Human Rights Act and much of the provincial legislation is likely to have been weakened by their reliance on a complaints based system. Recent legislation in several provinces attempts to overcome this problem. The furthest reaching of these is Ontario's Pay Equity Act, passed in 1987, which guarantees equal pay for work of equal value in both the public and private sectors. The new legislation does not rely on a complaints based system, instead it officially requires all employers to adjust their wage systems on the basis of comparable worth evaluations. Studies of its enforcement and impact will be of considerable interest, particularly in terms of the use of comparable worth legislation in the private sector.

The principle of equal pay for equal work has a long history in the European community, though its implementation has not been a smooth or speedy process. Article 119 of the Treaty of Rome expressed "the principle that men and women should receive equal pay for equal work". Curtin (1989) argues that the principle was included at this stage for strictly economic, rather than social, reasons. At the time of negotiations, social legislation was considerably more advanced in some countries than in others: France, for example, had implemented equal pay legislation in 1957. Thus, the main reason for the inclusion of the principle of equal pay in the Treaty, it is argued, was to protect French industry from unfair competition.

Most States were slow to actually implement the principle domestically, with rather limited progress in the implementation during the 1960s. In 1974 a Resolution was introduced on a four-year action programme which announced plans to adopt measures necessary to achieve not just equality in pay, but also in access to employment, training, etc. As part of this programme the Council adopted a series of Directives in the following years. The first, in 1975, was a Directive on equal pay. The Directive incorporated the principle of equal pay for work of equal value, interpreting Article 119 as implying that "for the same work or for work to which equal value is attributed, the elimination of all discrimination on grounds of sex with regard to all aspects and conditions of remuneration" is required. It did not contain an exact definition of "equal value" or a methodology for its measurement, however. It was to be implemented in the Member States within one year, with the principle of equal pay being enforced both in collective agreements and in individual contracts. Individuals were to have the power to institute legal proceedings against their employer and were to be guaranteed protection against unfair dismissal arising from such proceedings. In 1978 the Commission concluded that the principle of equal pay as outlined in the Directive had not been fully implemented in any Member State. Proceedings only began to be issued against individual Member States in the 1980s, however,

All EC countries now have some form of equal pay legislation, in line with the EC Directive. Methods of, and commitment to, implementing equal pay policy vary from country to country, however. In addition, each country has its own history of national equal pay policy. The impact of legislation in the various countries, therefore, and the extent to which each country has reduced its wage gap, varies considerably.

Evidence from the UK suggests a positive impact of equal pay policies in reducing the wage gap. The UK passed an Equal Pay Act in 1970 and allowed employers 5 years to carry out the necessary adjustments to their wage systems, although the indications are that few changes were made earlier than 1973. The male-female wage ratio, which had been relatively stable at around 0.58 for 20 years, rose sharply to 0.68 in the 7 years from 1970 to 1977, before stabilising at a slightly lower level towards the end of the decade. Perhaps more significantly the increase was generally uniform across occupations and industries, suggesting that it could not be attributed merely to changes in the composition of the female labour force. It also occurred in almost all sectors at around the same time, that is between 1974 and 1976, the years immediately before and after the year of implementation of the act.

Zabalza and Tzannatos (1985a, 1985b) analyse the effects of the Equal Pay Act and conclude that it was significant in influencing these changes. In addition, they argue that there is no evidence of significant adverse employment effects as a result of the increase in the relative cost of female labour. The aggregate number of hours worked by females rose steadily relative to the corresponding figure for males during the 1970s. Although most of this increase was concentrated in the public sector, in the private sector the employment of females relative to males appears did not fall substantially. Chiplin and Sloane (1988) argue that the data and methods used by Zabalza and Tzannatos do not justify such a strong conclusion. In particular, they stress that the role of incomes policies (including a flat rate element in pay increases) in equalizing pay is underestimated. Borooah and Lee (1988) argue that the role of changes in industrial structure - faster growth of industries which are relatively female intensive - in explaining the rise in the employment of women relative to men has also been underestimated.

The OECD (1991) argues that the impact of the Equal Pay Act may have been in large part due to the inclusion of provisions specifically directed towards women in sex-segregated occupations. These provisions, which applied to all female workers covered by collective agreements, ensured that no female worker could be paid less than the lowest wage paid to male manual workers in the same workplace.⁵ It may be that such provisions had more significant effects than the rest of the act because they operated across the board, and were not as subject to the procedural hurdles which individual cases would have had to negotiate.

In 1982, a European Court of Justice ruling found that the UK legislation contained no proper measures to allow employees to obtain equal pay for work of equal value where there was no like work and no system of job classification. The Equal Pay Act was amended in 1983 to deal with this ruling, extending the right to equal pay to work which was of equal value in terms of skill, effort and responsibility. The legislation was to be enforced under a complaints-based system with individual women making complaints through their union to the industrial tribunal. The complaints system as established under the amendment has been criticised as being too complex and inaccessible to allow it to have widespread effect (Curtin, 1989); and also for failing to provide a certain definition and guidelines for the measurement of equal value (McCrudden,

⁵This approach has something in common with the idea of a national minimum wage; for a discussion of the issues arising in that context, see Nolan (1993).

1983). There is no evidence to suggest that the amendment has had any effect in reducing the wage gap. The overall UK wage ratio remained relatively constant, fluctuating between 71 and 74 per cent since 1975. (OECD 1991)

The potential effectiveness of the use of collective bargaining mechanisms to address the issue of equal pay is demonstrated by the experience of the Scandinavian countries. In Denmark, by the time that legislation was passed in 1976 to meet the requirements of the EC Equal Pay Directive of 1975, a significant portion of the Danish labour force was already covered by collective agreements on equal pay. Under the Danish system, labour law is largely defined by collective agreements. Collective agreements are binding and enforceable by the Labour Court and legislation tends to be based on the contents the agreements. Settlements on equal pay introduced in 1971 and 1973 covered large parts of the labour market and had a direct impact in reducing the wage gap. Between 1970 and 1975 the wage ratio among manual workers in manufacturing rose from 74 per cent to 84 per cent. In the two years following the passage of the 1976 legislation, this wage ratio rose only slightly further - to 86 per cent by 1977 - and it is unclear to what extent this further increase can be attributed to the legislation rather than the continued effect of the earlier collective agreements.

Sweden also has a strong and long-standing record in the implementation of equal pay policy through the mechanism of collective agreements. Since the 1950s Swedish trade unions have implemented a Wage Solidarity policy to protect low-paid groups in the workforce. As a result of the implementation of this policy, demands for equality in the wage structure and more specifically for equal pay for work of equal value have tended to be central in wage negotiations. In 1960 the Swedish Trade Union Confederation and the Swedish Employers' Confederation reached agreement on the abolition of separate wages for women over a 5 year period, resulting in a wide range of collective agreements on the subject. The subject was not legislated on until 1980, when the Act on Equality between Men and Women at Work was adopted. Amongst provisions dealing with equal employment opportunity and affirmative action, the Act reinforced the principle of equal pay for work of equal value in legal terms. It also established the position of an Equality Ombudsman to oversee the implementation of the act and to promote equality. As in the Danish case, equal pay legislation appears to have had much less impact than the system of collective agreements on the subject which preceded it. Between 1960 and 1979 the wage ratio amongst manual workers in manufacturing rose from 69 to 89 per cent; in the 10 years following the passage of the legislation this figure has remained relatively constant.

The Scandinavian experience indicates that the collective bargaining process can, in certain circumstances, be an effective instrument for the implementation of equal pay policy. But the extent to which equal pay policy can be implemented through the mechanisms of collective bargaining rather than by legislation depends, inter alia, on the degree to which wage-fixing systems and collective bargaining are centralised. Countries like Sweden with a highly unionised labour force and relatively centralised collective bargaining have been able to rely heavily on the mechanism of collective agreements. In the US, where only 18 per cent of the labour force are unionised and wage-fixing systems are extremely decentralised, legislation has been the only possible method of implementing equal pay policy. Nor is centralised bargaining a sufficient condition for the implementation of equal pay policy through the wage bargaining system: the relatively low degree of wage dispersion evident in the Scandinavian countries can also be seen as linked to quite distinct societal preferences, and contributing to the relatively low wage gap between the sexes.

6.3.2 Equal Employment Opportunity and Affirmative Action

The significance of occupational segregation in influencing the wage gap has already been discussed. A wide range of policies aimed at reducing such segregation, ranging from traditional equal employment opportunity (henceforth EEO) legislation to more active affirmative action programmes, are in place in various countries. In fact a form of policy evolution appears to have occurred as the need to compensate, not just for discrimination in its most overt forms, but also for the systemic discrimination which results from a history of inequality, came to be realised, as did the difficulties involved in legally proving the existence of discrimination in employment practices and in enforcing EEO legislation from the outside.

The US has a long record in the implementation of EEO legislation and affirmative action programmes. EEO legislation, forbidding the reservation of jobs for one sex and enforceable by lawsuit, was included in the Civil Rights Act of 1964. Four years later, an Executive Order required that all federal contractors implement affirmative action plans, obliging them to set goals for the employment of women and minorities at all promotional levels so that their employment share reflected their share of the surrounding relevant labour market. This was followed by an amendment to the Civil Rights Act which enabled the courts to compel private industrialists to develop affirmative action plans. The EEO Commission was established to set down guidelines for affirmative action programmes and to supervise their implementation, and has been aided by the courts, who have issued numerical orders for hiring and promotion in many cases.

A major feature of the US system is that it shifts the burden of proof onto the employers, forcing them to reassess their own hiring and promotional practices and to take action to ensure that they comply with official regulation. In practice, however, government monitoring of the extent to which the affirmative action plans have been adhered to has tended to be weak. In recent years, in particular, both regulations and enforcement have been loosened somewhat, so that the risk of losing a federal contract through failure to fulfil a plan has become small. Affirmative Action has always been a divisive political issue and complaints about so-called "reverse discrimination" led the Justice Department to call for an end to the use of numerical quotas as a tool for affirmative action during the 1980s. Leonard (1990) argues that Supreme Court decisions in 1989 "nailed down the coffin lid" on affirmative action, but the controversy about its effects has continued.

Despite the extensive legislation in place, however, the evidence of its real effect on the labour market is not that clear. Some studies of the effects of the 1964 EEO legislation, conducted in the 1970s and early 1980s, find evidence that it increased female earnings and contributed to the reduction of the earnings gap during this period (Beller 1976, 1979, 1980). Other studies (e.g., Oaxaca, 1977) have failed to find significant evidence of EEO legislation on earnings, however. Beller (1982) also concludes that the legislation had some effect in reducing occupational segregation, although Leonard (1984a) argues that its overall effect on female employment was negative or insignificant. There is some evidence from Beller's studies that the legislation was more effective when it was more strictly enforced. Evidence of the impact of affirmative action on overall costs and employment levels is much more limited; most research has focused instead on whether the programmes have been effective in achieving their explicit goals. However, Griffin (1992) estimates that affirmative action led to a cost increase of 6.5 per cent for the firms involved.

Numerous studies have also examined the effects of affirmative action programmes introduced under the 1968 Executive Order. It has been found generally that such programmes do have a positive effect on female wages and employment in the establishments in which they are in place, but the

limited number of these firms means that the economy-wide effects are restricted. Beller (1982) and Leonard (1984b) find evidence of a decrease in occupational segregation as a result of these programmes and Leonard (1984c), concludes that they have resulted in an increase in the growth rate of employment for females. Once again, there is also evidence that stricter enforcement leads to more effective results (Osterman, 1982; Leonard 1984b, 1985). The need for caution in attributing the gains made in reducing both the wage gap and the extent of occupational segregation directly to affirmative action programmes, during a period when many changes were occurring in the size, composition, educational standards and attitudes of the female labour force is widely stressed, however. Smith and Ward (1984), for example, point out that the increase in the wage ratio from 0.60 to 0.64 that occurred between 1980 and 1983 cannot be easily attributed to legislation passed more than 10 years earlier and whose enforcement actually decreased during this period. The OECD (1991) concludes that, although the level of occupational segregation has been declining slowly in the US over the last 20 years, the only area where affirmative action programmes appear to have had any real impact is in opening up the managerial and professional categories, with little real progress being made in the skilled blue-collar bracket.

The EC passed a directive on "Equal Treatment" in 1976. It called for equal treatment for men and women "as regards access to employment, vocational training, promotion and working conditions". As Curtin (1989) points out, the Directive confers two forms of obligation on Member States. First, what she describes as a "passive" obligation to prevent discrimination in relation to employment; and secondly, a more "active" obligation to abolish any laws or regulations which are contrary to the principle of equal treatment. She also argues that the Directive may allow affirmative action plans, because its provisions are stated to be "without prejudice to measures to promote equal opportunity for men and women, in particular by removing existing inequalities which affect women's opportunities". The position in this regard is not clearcut. The European Commission's 1988 report⁶, recommended the adoption of positive action programmes by employers aimed at removing the obstacles which continue to stand in the way of women achieving equal opportunities in practice; but such programmes may not involve some of the elements widely associated with the term "affirmative action".

The UK passed a Sex Discrimination Act in 1975, outlawing discrimination in employment practices because of sex or marital status. It was forced to amend this legislation in 1986; the amended law promised state subsidies to companies engaging in affirmative action and preferential treatment programmes. In addition, in 1985, parliamentary approval was granted to a report published by the Equal Employment Commission outlining a "Code of Practice for the Elimination of Discrimination". It is too early, at this stage, to properly estimate the effects of British affirmative action policy, although there is some evidence that the number of voluntary initiatives by companies increased after the government began to grant state subsidies and after the Equality Employment Commission's report received parliamentary approval.

EEO legislation in the Scandinavian countries is of particular interest in that it is largely implemented through the collective bargaining system. As mentioned earlier, Sweden passed the "Act on Equality between Men and Women at Work" in 1980, requiring employers to take action to achieve equality of wages, employment and promotion between the sexes. The legislation was then implemented by means of collective agreements between employers and the unions. In addition, the Swedish government requires all companies receiving regional aid to employ at least 40 per cent of both sexes at all levels of the promotional ladder and grants subsidies to firms hiring or training workers in jobs which are "non-traditional" for their sex. Norway passed a similar equality act - the Act on Equal Status between the Sexes" - in 1978 which was implemented by collective agreement in the same way. A programme introduced in 1979, however, offering six-month subsidies to firms hiring workers in "non-traditional" roles, has relatively unenthusiastically received and has failed to find recipients for all of its funds.

Little formal analysis of the effects of Scandinavian policies and their method of implementation has been undertaken. Relative wages have shown a gradually increasing trend in Sweden since the 1960s. Occupational segregation remains very pronounced, however, and the increase in wage ratios is, therefore, more likely to be attributable to the effects of centralised collective wage bargaining and a strong union policy to increase low wages, as discussed earlier, in addition to structural changes in the economy such as the increase in public sector employment. A strong system of supporting social policy such as the separate taxation of husbands and wives, the provision of paid parental leave for both sexes, and the building of state-subsidised childcare centres are also likely to have been significant.

6.4 Policy Instruments: Irish Experience

6.4.1 Equal Pay

The first initiatives towards the implementation of the principle of equal pay in Ireland were contained in the 1972 and 1974 National Wage Agreements. Until that year the National Wage Agreements had made their own contribution to the wage gap by according women only a proportion of the increases agreed on for men. Most increases under the 1972 Agreement continued to be awarded on a percentage basis. It did make specific provision for some equal pay increases, however, allowing for the negotiation of a partial reduction in wage differentials which were established to exist in situations where men and women were doing like work or work of equal value. Disputes were to be referred to the Labour Court, which was to appoint an Equal Pay Commissioner to carry out investigations. The effects of the provisions appear to have been relatively limited. Few of the cases investigated by the Equal Pay Commissioner were successful. In addition provision was also made under the agreement for employers to claim inability to pay.

Legislation on equal pay was first introduced in Ireland in the form of the Anti-Discrimination (Pay) Act in 1974. The legislation was introduced to meet the requirements of EEC Directive 117, which was signed in February 1975 coming into effect a year later, and called on all Member States to eliminate "all discrimination on grounds of sex with regard to all aspects and conditions of remuneration". The Act was passed in 1974 and, despite pressure to delay its implementation, came into force on the first of January 1976.

The Act established the right of men and women on like work and employed by the same or an associated employer to equal pay. It defined "like work" not only as the performance of the same duties under the same conditions, but also as work of "equal value" in terms of the demands made in relation to skill, physical or mental effort, responsibility and working conditions. In this way the Act went further than traditional "equal pay" policies in encompassing the concept of "equal pay for work of equal value" in line with the requirements of the EC Directive. The Act was to be implemented by means of the issuance of individual complaints to specially appointed Equality Officers with investigative powers. Disputes were to be referred to the Labour Court. In addition it contained a provision to prevent the complainant from victimisation or unfair dismissal arising from actions taken under the Act. For reasons discussed earlier, reliance on a complaints based system carries with it certain disdvantages. The 1974 Act relied mainly on a complaints-based system.⁷ The appointment of Equality Officers⁸ may have gone some way towards alleviating this problem. Over the years Equality Officers have built up a considerable body of specialist knowledge in the area and are considered to provide a relatively cheap and accessible service. Their powers of investigation are particularly useful to claimants in attempting to prove that "like work" is, in fact, being performed. In addition, many claimants have been represented to the Equality Officers by their Trade Unions, which has allowed considerable numbers of women to be involved in a single case.

In practice the scope of the job comparisons which have been carried out under the legislation has been rather limited. Although the Act contained the far-reaching concept of equal pay for "work of equal value", which would potentially allow the comparison of very different jobs, it did not contain any reference to the formal job evaluation schemes which would be necessary to make such comparisons. It is possibly partly because of this, that very few cases which involve the comparison of jobs which are radically different in content have been taken.

6.4.2 Equal Opportunity

In February 1976 the EEC issued Directive 207, which called for the application of the principle of equal treatment to men and women in employment as regards access to jobs, training and promotion, and working conditions. In response to this Directive the Employment Equality Act was passed and came into operation in 1977. The Act prohibited discrimination on the grounds of sex or marital status in recruitment, training, the provision of opportunities for promotion and conditions of employment. It also contained an implicit distinction between direct discrimination (i.e., where an individual of a certain sex or marital status is treated less favourably than another individual is in similar circumstances) and indirect discrimination (i.e., where a condition or requirement is applied equally to both sexes, but is such that a considerably smaller proportion of members of one sex can comply with it, and which cannot be shown to be an essential requirement for the job in question). Once again individual complaints

⁸Formerly Equal Pay Officers.

⁷In a wider context, some of the powers of the Employment Equality Agency (outlined in the next section) may complement the 1974 Act.

under the Act are to be submitted to the Labour Court, and provisions intended to protect the complainant from unfair dismissal or victimisation as a result of their action are included in the Act.

In addition, however, the Act established an independent body, the Employment Equality Agency, to oversee the operation of both the 1977 and 1974 acts, and to monitor the overall progress made in moving towards sexual equality in the workplace. The Agency was given wide powers to undertake this task. It has the power to issue codes of practice and guidelines to employers; to carry out formal investigations and require that any information be produced to aid in such investigations; to provide assistance to individual claimants; to undertake research and distribute information; and to issue non-discrimination notices against those who are found to be breaking the law under the Act. It was hoped that its powers would allow it to attack the discrimination which exists in areas to which the right of individual complainants did not extend - in particular, to discriminatory practices, discriminatory advertising, or pressure to discriminate.

Since its establishment the Agency has become one of the chief publicists of problems of sexual inequality in the Irish workplace. It provides assistance and support to individuals wishing to make claims under either of the Employment Equality Acts, and to private companies seeking to establish equality of opportunity within their organisations. It also advises on equal opportunity policy in state and semi-state bodies. While acknowledging the role played by the Agency in terms of public awareness and its educational role, Curtin (1989) argues that the Agency's statutory powers have, in practice, been not been fully utilised; this she attributes to its limited resources, including staffing. In particular, she argues that the Agency's powers of formal investigation, which constitute a strong weapon against the less obvious and more systemic forms of discrimination, have been underutilised.

The position as regards formal targets for hiring and promotion is rather different in Ireland, as in other EC countries, from that obtaining in the US. Irish legislation on employment equality, reflecting the EC directive, is based on equal treatment for men and women in hiring and promotion decisions. Formal quotas could be seen as incompatible with this approach.⁹ However, a distinction must be drawn between measures involving what is often termed "positive discrimination" (such as quotas for

•

⁹Curtin (1989) argues that "positive discrimination" could be seen instead as meeting the substantive requirements of equality in particular situations.

employment or promotion) and "positive action" measures, (such as the provision of training). The Employment Equality Act of 1977 made some allowance for the difficulties in this area in dealing with the employment related area of vocational training. Although discrimination in admission to training courses or the treatment of people on courses is prohibited in general, the training of one sex only for work which had previously been dominated by the other sex is permissible.

A number of positive action measures have been taken in the public service and semi-state bodies. A programme has been in place in the Civil Service and in some of the semi-state bodies since 1984 and more formally since the adoption of an *Equal Opportunity Policy and Guidelines for the Civil Service* in 1986. The programme states a commitment to the goal of equal opportunities, involving the achievement of fuller participation by women at all levels of employment. Some of the provisions of the programme are of a facilitating nature - for example, those relating to maternity leave, job sharing, and reinstatement. It also provides for regular analysis and monitoring of the relative position of women within the bodies concerned. The data collected provide evidence of the extent of progress towards the goal of equality of opportunity and this progress is monitored by the Employment Equality Agency.

Employers in the private sector have been encouraged and assisted in taking more positive steps towards the achievement of equal opportunity by the Employment Equality Agency, which regards the "development of positive initiatives" at an organisational level to "remove barriers and encourage change" as part of its role. As part of this strategy, the Agency played a lead role in the operation and development of "Equality Focus". This award scheme was first run in 1990, when it was designed to recognise the achievements of companies and personnel practitioners who had made real progress in removing sex-based differentials in personnel performance in any area of company operations. The 1992 scheme was amined at companies who, through a specific initiative, had in their day-to-day operations and personnel practice done most to break down sex stereotyping and imbalances in the company's personnel profile.

6.4.3 Facilitative Policies

The scope for "facilitative policies" which, while not aimed specifically at pay or promotion, might still be expected to have a significant impact on the male-female wage gap, was discussed earlier. Such policies might take the form, for example, of the provision of special education and training in labour market oriented skills for women, the

furnishing of adequate job-support facilities such as flexible working arrangements and childcare facilities for women *and* men with families etc. Legislation was passed on two such issues under the Employment Equality Act of 1977. The Act prohibited discrimination by employment agencies in job placement services, career guidance and the provision of employment information. It also prohibited discrimination in admission to, and treatment on, vocational training programmes, but, as noted earlier, allowed for the training of members of one sex only for work which had previously been dominated by the other sex.

More positive action was taken under the Programme for National Recovery, when the FAS Positive Action Programme was set up to expand the opportunities for women to take up careers in non-traditional areas by setting precise targets and pre-apprenticeship courses. These targets were to be increased under the PESP. In addition, in 1978, a special area was introduced into the ESF funds for vocational training, to provide training specifically for women of 25 or over who have lost their jobs, or wish to exercise an occupation for the first time or after a long break or have insufficient vocational qualifications.

The significance of measures designed to help women combine paid employment with family responsibilities to an attempt to achieve the goal of equality of opportunity has been widely recognised. The passing in 1981 of the Maternity Protection of Employees Act was an important first step in this direction. It guaranteed to women the right to take maternity leave and additional maternity leave, the right to return to work, the right to leave for ante-natal and post-natal care, and the right to the protection of their jobs during this leave time. Disputes on these issues were to be referred to a Rights Commissioner or to the Employment Appeals Tribunal.

The EC in recent years been giving more consideration to provisions intended to address the goal of equality of opportunity by alleviating the unequal burdens which may be faced by women outside the labour market. Measures relating to paternal and family leave, designed to reduce the unequal burden of family responsibilities on women by guaranteeing both parents greater and more equal rights to leave for family reasons have been discussed. In December 1991, the EC Council of Ministers approved a Recommendation on Childcare, which dealt with the improvement of childcare services and encouraging the sharing of parental tasks. The report of the European Commission Childcare Network on childcare and equal opportunity has recommended a directive on childcare, with targets which would require substantial resources to be devoted to public provision of this service. At national level, the Irish government has also been giving consideration to further policy developments in these areas. It defined its role on the childcare issue in the PESP as being to "stimulate the development of childcare services by employers". More recently, the Programme for a Partnership Government undertook to provide incentives for employers to provide childcare facilities in the workplace. The PESP also contained a commitment to pursue the provision of childcare services for working parents and promised that the Minister for Labour would identify suitable prototypes for Irish childcare services and exploit fully the potential for EC support, as well as laying out plans to provide such services for public sector employees. It was indicated that arrangements for the supervision and inspection of pre-schools, playgroups, creches and nurseries would be introduced. As yet, however, the overall shape of future policy in this area is unclear.

Tracing the changes in the wage ratio over the last 20 years in Ireland provides a superficial indication of the impact of the various forms of policy and legislation introduced in this country aimed at reducing the wage gap. The wage ratio amongst manual workers in manufacturing increased slightly in 1974, the year that the Anti-Discrimination (Pay) Act was passed. More noteworthy, however, is the significant increase in the wage ratio from just over 60 per cent to almost 70 per cent in the 3 years following the implementation of the Employment Equality Act and the establishment of the Employment Equality Agency in 1977. Since 1980, however, the wage ratio has remained more or less stable, suggesting that the main impact of such legislation has already been experienced. While the full potential may not yet have been realised, the analysis contained here, together with experience from other countries suggests that the unrealised potential for an aggregate reduction in the wage gap via legislation of this type is probably rather limited. However, existing legislation obviously plays a role in preventing the re-emergence of discriminatory payment systems.

6.5 Childcare Policy and Wage Differentials

The most important single factor in explaining the wage gap is differences in length of labour market experience between men and women. Child-related interruptions to women's labour market careers clearly have a major bearing on this factor. The expectation of such temporary or permanent withdrawals from the labour market may have significant indirect effects, by reducing levels of investment in women's education and training. This could represent an economically rational response by women to their perceived future plans and prospects. But it is often argued (e.g., by Thurow, 1975) that it could also give rise to what is termed "statistical discrimination" by employers.

The basis for this argument is that an employer's investment in an employee's training will be related to the length of time the employee is expected to stay with that employer. Other things being equal, it is argued, a female employee is likely to stay with the employer for a shorter period of time, because she is more likely than a man to withdraw from the labour force, or change to part-time work, for reasons related to child-bearing and child-rearing. Given such assumptions, Thurow contends that economically rational employer responses would tend to reduce investment in women's training as against men's.¹⁰ If there is such a tendency, for whatever reason, child-related interruptions to women's careers could affect all women in the labour force to some degree, and not just those with children.

In any event, the role of child-related interruptions to labour market participation in reducing women's wages relative to men's is clear. It seems equally clear that equality of labour market *outcomes* cannot be achieved without policy intervention in this area. But does this mean that equality of labour market *opportunity* cannot be achieved without state support for childcare?¹¹ In order to answer this question it is necessary to probe into the division of labour within families in considerable depth. But the observed outcomes are consistent with a number of different interpretations: the available evidence is not sufficient to decide clearly on the balance of forces at work.

Models of the economic forces at work in this situation, pioneered by Becker, show that a division of labour which sees one partner specialize in market work and the other in domestic work can arise simply from the maximisation of overall household welfare. The allocation of the "gains from cooperation" still depends on the nature of bargaining, but even if allocated equally, a "wage gap" in paid employment will still be observed. Becker (1981) shows that the common tendency for wages to rise with

¹⁰Cain (1986) accepts that this would represent discrimination against women who plan to stay in a job for longer than the average, but argues that it would result in favourable treatment for those staying for less than the average period. But Cain's overall conclusion is that neo-classical models, such as the one implicit in Thurow's argument, do not provide a convincing explanation of the reality of discrimination.

¹¹For a more general review of arguments for state support of childcare, see Callan and Farrell (1992).

labour market experience can lead to such results even when both partners have identical earning capacities in the market, and fully equal opportunities.

An alternative perspective sees the outcomes as generated by quite different forces. Some would argue that the current division of non-paid work, whereby women are the "major providers of care for children and the elderly [and] also administer and manage most other aspects of domestic life" is an "inequitable" one (Elias and Purcell, 1988). This suggests that external constraints and/or unequal bargaining between men and women, give rise to an unfair burden being placed on women in terms of childcare and other responsibilities. The influence of social norms, as well as purely economic factors, on the nature of such internal bargaining, even on a couple with identical preferences and similar capabilities, must be recognised. In Irish society, as in many others, the right and duty of the man to act as "breadwinner" has been strongly entrenched, along with the responsibility of women for the provision of childcare and running of the home. Attitudes towards these basic rights and duties have changed over the years: women's right to work in the paid labour market has become more firmly established, and there have been changes in the role played by men in childcare and domestic tasks. Nevertheless, it seems to us that there is a tension between a societal aspiration to equality of labour market opportunity between the sexes, and societal attitudes regarding the relative roles of men and women in the labour market and the home.

These societal attitudes can play a significant role in the decisions made by individual families on childcare arrangements and labour market participation. Such decisions involve some elements of implicit or explicit bargaining. As Sen (quoted in Swedberg, 1991) points out, however, the circumstances of families are such that the system of internal bargaining (especially in so far as it is often implicit) is a particularly complex one:

given the very nature of the family - that people live together constantly, that they share the same room, the same cooking pot, sometimes even the same bed, and so on - it is very hard for the conflicting elements to be faced starkly...So the conflicting elements tend to be hidden, and people don't see them. What therefore happens is that there is a kind of agreed upon perception as to how these conflicts should be resolved, and this usually takes the form of some kind of legitimacy notion, which everybody accepts. In sexist societies it may take the form that the men get more than the women in the division of food or health care, and that the boys get more than the girls. But even if there is an unequal solution, this is not seen as a resolution to a conflict because the elements of conflict have to be kept below the surface. Instead, it looks as if it is just the natural order, indeed "the only sensible way" of thinking about it. (Sen, quoted in Swedberg, 1991: 257)

Sen is talking here about the situation in families in generally much poorer circumstances than we face in Ireland. His model of bargaining and the resolution of conflict within families is more generally applicable, however. He models the family as an institution where individual equal rights may be overridden in order to suppress the conflict which may threaten the survival of the unit as a whole. In the case of bargaining over childcare issues one conflict which may arise is over the division of career sacrifices. In the Irish context, it can be argued that the "legitimacy notion" against which women must contend is that women have the right to "choose" to seek paid work, while men "ought" to seek paid work. In effect, this notion places unequal weights on men's and women's rights as regards labour market careers, which could influence the nature of the bargain struck, even when both partners had identical preferences and capabilities.

6.7 Assessment and Conclusions

International experience with a wide range of policies relevant to male-female wage differentials was reviewed in this chapter. It is clear from this experience that ensuring the same rates of pay for men and women in the same jobs within an organisation is only a first step towards the equalisation of labour market opportunties. The practical problems encountered in trying to put the principle of "equal pay for equal value" into practice also appear to be significant, however. Comparable worth procedures such as those put in place in the USA and Canada seem to have had quite substantial effects in particular cases, but with a limited aggregate impact. There appears to be some evidence from the experience of Scandinavian countries to suggest that, in their circumstances, the principle can be more effectively implemented through the collective bargaining process than through legislation; but many other factors, such as the package of facilitating policies (childcare, parental leave, and so on) also come into play in these countries' experiences.

The limitations of complaints-based legislative systems as a means of achieving equality in pay have already been discussed. The Employment Equality Agency has expressed the opinion that the number of cases actually brought forward under the two anti-discrimination acts under-estimates the extent of discrimination in the workplace in Ireland. It has also called for a reversal of the burden of proof in equality cases, forcing the employer to furnish the information required by the claimant in such cases. The second EC Medium Term Community Programme also contained a commitment to bring forward a legal instrument on the reversal of proof in equality cases. The Department of Labour's 1987 Discussion Document highlighted many of the areas where reform and consolidation of the two Acts could make their practical implementation more effective.

In recent years, however, both at national and EC level, there has been an increasing recognition of the limitations of complaints based legislative systems as a policy tool aimed at the achievement of equal pay. As a result the emphasis has turned more towards the implementation of positive action programmes at an organisational level and the need for a package of policies facilitating women's participation in the labour market on a basis of equality.

Positive action programmes can vary considerably both in their goals and in their strength. Some of the affirmative action plans used in the US can be seen as a strong, positively discriminating tool designed as a temporary measure to compensate women for past discrimination and to eradicate systemic discrimination. Positive action programmes in Ireland, as in many European countries, have not been of this type. The programme in place in the Civil Service does not, in general, include definite targets for hiring or promotion in the US-style, but focuses on analysis and monitoring to identify and resolve potential problems. In the private sector, the EEA's "Equality Focus" scheme constitutes the first step towards a positive action programme. Limited as it is to an awards scheme, however, its effects are unlikely to be very far reaching and its most important role will probably be to draw attention to the issue.

As regards facilitating policies, some steps have been taken in the areas of vocational training and the provision of maternity leave. Given the impact of family commitments on women's labour market participation, and the fact that differences in labour market experience account for about 10 percentage points of the gap between male and female wages, possible changes in policies on childcare and parental leave are of particular interest. It is sometimes argued that the provision of adequate parental and family leave are necessary if it is to be made possible for family responsibilities to be shared equally. But Swedish evidence indicates that women are more likely to actually use such leave entitlements, with attendant risks for their later labour market careers.

88

A comprehensive review of the objectives of state policy in the area of childcare and child income support would seem to be necessary in order to identify the appropriate policy interventions in this area. A strong case can be made for state intervention from an equal opportunity perspective; but this is not the only perspective which is relevant in this area. For example, some studies suggest that there are developmental advantages for children from early pre-school education; from this point of view, it would be desirable if such facilities were available to all, and not just to the children of parents at work. Tax allowances for childcare are not recommended, for the reasons outlined in Callan and Farrell (1992): they would give greatest support to those on the highest incomes, while being of no value to those below the income tax threshold. More generally, the distributive effects of state expenditure on the support of childcare could also be of concern. The state already makes contributions towards the support of children, both in cash and in kind, ultimately financed by taxation. State financial support for childcare must also be considered in this overall context, where decisions are made about the degree to which the state allocates resources for the benefit of children in families at different income levels, and the tax-financing package is also taken into account.¹²

In the Programme for Economic and Social Progress, government policy in this area was defined as being "to stimulate the development of childcare services by employers, individually and collectively, and also including partnerships between public authorities and employers". If this policy involved shifting the responsibility for the provision of such services onto employers, however, the costs of hiring female labour might be raised. The disincentive effects involved in such an increase could therefore have a negative effect of female employment opportunities and hence on the reduction of the wage gap. While it is true that provision of workplace nurseries can be of benefit to employers (through improved morale and productivity, reduced absenteeism, and lower staff turnover), this does not create a general case for mandatory employer provision of such services. There may be some role for state agencies in disseminating the relevant information, but it would be difficult to argue that employers are not the best judges of their own interests in such matters.

¹²Some packages would result in a transfer of resources from those without children to those with children; others would result in much more complex transfers of resources with differential effects on high, medium and low income one-earner and two-earner couples.

MALE-FEMALE WAGE DIFFERENTIALS

A more general issue is the extent to which the objective of equality of opportunity may conflict with other goals of public policy. One potential conflict is between increased regulation of the labour market and maximisation of employment. Even if there are imperfections in the labour market giving rise to unequal opportunities, which increased legislative action could reduce, it is quite likely that an unintended by-product of such legislation would be to increase the costs of employing labour. Similarly, if the state were to provide greater financial resources for childcare, the increase in tax revenue required to finance this expansion could have a detrimental economic impact. Thus, a balance has to be struck between the desired objective of greater equality of opportunity and the potential detrimental effects of policy measures on other desired goals.

REFERENCES

- ASHENFELTER, O., 1972. "Racial Discrimination and Trade Unions", Journal of Political Economy, 80, 435-464.
- BECKER, G., 1971. The Economics of Discrimination (2nd Edition), Chicago: The University of Chicago Press.
- BECKER, G., 1981. A Treatise on the Family, Boston: Harvard University Press.
- BELLER, A., 1980. "The Effect of Economic Conditions on the Success of Equal Employment Opportunity Laws: An Application to the Sex Differential in Earnings", *Review of Economics and Statistics*, 62, 3, 370-387.
- BELLER, A., 1976. "EEO Laws and the Earnings of Women", Industrial Relations Research Association Proceedings, Madison: University of Wisconsin 190-198.
- BELLER, A., 1979. "The Impact of Equal Employment Opportunity Laws on the Male-Female Earnings Differential", in C. Lloyd, E. Andrews and C. Gilroy (eds.), *Women in the Labour Market*, New York: Columbia University Press, 304-330.
- BELLER, A., 1982. "Occupational Segregation by Sex: Determinants and Changes", Journal of Human Resources, 17, 3, 371-392.
- BERGMANN, B., 1989. "Does the Market for Women's Labour Need Fixing?" Journal of Economic Perspectives, 3, 1, 43-60.
- BLAU, F. and M.A FERBER, 1987. "Discrimination: Empirical Evidence from the United States." *American Economic Review*, 77, 2, 316-321.
- BLACKWELL, J., 1986. Women in the Labour Force: A Statistical Digest, Dublin: Employment Equality Agency.
- BLACKWELL, J., 1989. Women in the Labour Force, 2nd Edition, Dublin: Employment Equality Agency and Resource and Environment Policy Centre.
- BLACKWELL, J., E. O' SHEA, G. MOANE, P. MURRAY, 1992. Care Provision and Cost Measurement: Dependent Elderly People at Home and in Geriatric Hospitals, Dublin: The Economic and Social Research Institute, General Research Series, Paper No. 157.
- BOROOAH, V. and K. LEE, 1988. "The Effects of Changes in Britain's Industrial Structure on Female Relative Pay and Employment", *Economic Journal*, 98, 818-832.

- BREEN, R. and S. SHORTALL, 1991. "The Exchequer Costs of Unemployment among Unqualified Labour Market Participants", in J. Bradley, J. FitzGerald *et al. The Role of the Structural Funds*, Dublin: The Economic and Social Research Institute, Policy Research Series, Paper No. 13.
- BROWNING, M., 1992. "Children and Household Economic Behaviour", Journal of Economic Literature, Vol. XXX, No. 3, 1434-1475.
- CAIN, G., 1986. "The Economic Analysis of Labor Market Discrimination", in O. Ashenfelter and R. Layard (eds.), *Handbook of Labour Economics*, Vol. 1, Amsterdam: North-Holland.
- CALLAN, T., 1991. "Male-Female Wage Differentials in Ireland", The Economic and Social Review, Vol. 23, 55-72.
- CALLAN, T. and B. FARRELL, 1992. Women's Participation in the Irish Labour Market, Dublin: National Economic and Social Council Report No. 91.
- CALLAN, T., B. NOLAN and B.J. WHELAN, D.F. HANNAN with S. CREIGHTON, 1989. *Poverty, Income and Welfare in Ireland*, Dublin: The Economic and Social Research Institute, General Research Series, Paper No. 146.
- CALLAN, T., and B. REILLY, 1993. "Unions and the Wage Distribution in Ireland", *The Economic and Social Review*, Vol. 24, 297-312.
- CHIPLIN, B. and P.J. SLOANE, 1988. "The Effects of Britain's Anti-Discrimination Legislation on Relative Pay and Employment: A Comment", *Economic Journal*, Vol. 98, 833-838.
- CURTIN, D., 1989. Irish Employment Equality Law, Dublin: Round Hall Press.
- DOLTON, P.J and G.H MAKEPEACE, 1986. "Sample Selection and Male-Female Earnings Differentials in the Graduate Labour Market", *Oxford Economic Papers*, Vol.38, 317-341.
- DOYLE, M., 1986. "Equal Pay in Ireland: Ten Years of Legislation", unpublished Ph.D thesis, Department of Industrial Relations, Trinity College Dublin.
- DREW, E., 1991. Who Needs Flexibility? Part-time Working: The Irish Experience, Dublin: Employment Equality Agency.
- ELIAS, P. and K. PURCELL, 1988. "Women and Paid Work: Prospects for Equality" in A. Hunt (ed.), *Women and Paid Work: Issues of Equality*, Basingstoke: Macmillan.
- ERMISCH, J.F. and R.E. WRIGHT, 1988. "Differential Returns to Human Capital in Full-Time and Part-Time Employment: The Case of British Women", Birkbeck College Discussion Paper in Economics, 14/88.

REFERENCES

- ERMISCH, J.F., H. JOSHI and R.E. WRIGHT, 1990. "Women's Wages in Great Britain", Birkbeck College Discussion Paper in Economics, 8/90.
- FINCH, J. and J. MASON, 1990. "Gender, Employment and Responsibilities for Kin", *Work, Employment and Society*, Vol. 4, No. 3, 349-367.
- FINE-DAVIS, M., 1983. Women and Work in Ireland: A Social Psychological Perspective, Dublin: Council for the Status of Women.
- FUCHS, V., 1989. "Women's Quest for Economic Equality." Journal of Economic Perspectives, 3, 1, 25-42.
- GEARY, P.T. and B.M. WALSH, 1972. "The Economics of Equal Pay", Journal of the Statistical and Social Inquiry Society of Ireland, Vol. XXII, Part IV, 112-125.
- GEARY, P. T., 1988. The Nature and Functioning of Labour Markets: A Survey of International and Irish Literature and a Statement of Research Priorities for Ireland, Report to the National Economic and Social Council, Dublin: National Economic and Social Council, Report No. 86.
- GREGORY, R.G and R.C. DUNCAN, 1981. "Segmented Labour Market Theories and the Australian Experience of Equal Pay for Women", *Journal of Post Keynesian Economics*, 3, 3, 403-428.
- GRIFFIN, P., 1992. "The Impact of Affirmative Action on Labor Demand: A Test of Some Implications of the Le Chatelier Principle" *Review of Economics and Statistics*, LXXIV, 251-259.
- GUNDERSON, M., 1975. "Male-Female Wage Differentials and the Impact of Equal Pay Legislation", *Review of Economics and Statistics*, LVII, 462-469.
- GUNDERSON, M., 1989. "Male-Female Wage Differentials and Policy Responses", Journal of Economic Literature, XXVII, 46-72.
- GUSTAFSSON, S. and R. JACOBSSON, 1985. "Trends in Female Labour Force Participation in Sweden", *Journal of Labour Economics* (Supplement), Vol. 3, 1, 256-274.
- HUNT, A., 1988. "The Effect of Caring for the Elderly and Infirm on Women's Employment" in A. Hunt (ed.), *Women and Paid Work: Issues of Equality*, London: Macmillan.
- JOSHI, H., R. LAYARD and S. OWEN, 1985. "Why Are More Women Working in Britain?", Journal of Labour Economics, Vol. 3, Supplement, S147-S176.

- JOSHI, H.E and M. NEWELL, 1987. "Pay Differences between Men and Women: Longditudinal Evidence from the 1946 Birth Cohort", Centre for Economic Policy Research, Discussion Paper No. 156.
- LEONARD, J., 1984a. "Antidiscrimination or Reverse Discrimination: The Impact of Changing Demographics, Title VII, and Affirmative Action on Productivity", *Journal of Human Resources*, 19, 2, 145-174.
- LEONARD, J., 1984b. "Employment and Occupational Advance Under Affirmative Action", *Review of Economics and Statistics*, 66, 3, 377-385.
- LEONARD, J., 1984c. "The Impact of Affirmative Action on Employment", Journal of Labour Economics, 2, 4, 439-463.
- LEONARD, J., 1985. "Affirmative Action as Earnings Redistribution: The Targeting of Compliance Reviews", *Journal of Labour Economics*, 3, 3, 363-384.
- LEONARD, J., 1990. "The Impact Of Affirmative Action Regulation And Equal Employment Law On Black Employment," Journal of Economic Perspectives, 1990, v4, 4, 47-64.
- McCRUDDEN, C., 1983. "Equal Pay for Work of Equal Value: the Equal Pay (Amendment) Regulations 1983", Industrial Law Journal, December.
- McKENNA, A. 1988. Childcare and Equal Opportunities: Policies and Services for Childcare in Ireland. Dublin: Employment Equality Agency.
- MAIN, B., 1988. "Hourly Earnings of Female Part-time versus Full-time Employees", *Manchester School*, Vol. LVI, No. 4, 331-344.
- MILLER, P.W., 1987. "The Wage Effect of the Occupational Segregation of Women in Britain", *Economic Journal*, Vol. 97, 885-896.
- MINCER, J., 1985. "Intercountry Comparisons of Labour Force Trends and of Related Developments: An Overview." Journal of Labour Economics, Vol. 3, 1,.
- NOLAN, B., 1993. Low Pay in Ireland, Dublin: The Economic and Social Research Institute, General Research Series, Paper No. 159.
- NOONAN, M., 1983. Who Cares About the Carers? A Study of the Single Woman in Her Role as Carer of Elderly or Infirm Relatives, Dublin: Council for the Status of Women.
- OAXACA, R., 1973. "Male-Female Wage Differentials in Urban Labour Markets." International Economic Review, Vol. 14, 693-709.

REFERENCES

- O'CONNOR, J., E. SMYTH and B. J. WHELAN, 1988. Caring for the Elderly Part I: A Study of Carers in the Home and in the Community, Dublin: National Council for the Aged, Report No. 18.
- O'CONNOR, J., H. RUDDLE and M. O' GALLAGHER, E. MURPHY, 1988. Caring for the Elderly Part II: The Caring Process - A Study of Carers in the Home, Dublin: National Council for the Aged, Report No. 19.
- OECD, 1988. "Women's Activity, Employment and Earnings: A Review of Recent Developments", Chapter 5 of *Employment Outlook*, September.
- OECD, 1991. "Equal Pay for Work of Comparable Worth: The experience of the industrialised countries", *Labour Market and Social Policy Occasional Papers No. 6.*
- O'NEILL, J., 1985. "The Trend in the Male-Female Wage Gap in the United States", Journal of Labour Economics, 3, 1, 91-116.
- OSTERMAN, P., 1982. "Affirmative Action and Opportunity: A Study of Female Quit Rates", *Review of Economics and Statistics*, 64, 4, 604-612.
- POLACHEK, S. 1981. "Occupational Self-Selection: A Human Capital Approach To Sex Differences In Occupational Structure", *Review of Economics and Statistics*, 63, 60-69.
- RAPOPORT, R. and RAPOPORT, R.N., 1976. Dual Career Families Re-examined, Oxford: Martin Robertson.
- REILLY, B., 1987. "Wages, Sex Discrimination and the Irish Labour Market for Young Workers", *The Economic and Social Review*, 18, 271-305.
- REILLY, B., 1990. "Occupational Endogeneity and Gender Wage Differentials for Young Workers: An Empirical Analysis Using Irish Data", *The Economic and Social Review*, 21, 311-328.
- RUANE, F. and E. DOBSON, 1990. "Academic Salary Differentials -Some Evidence from an Irish Survey", *The Economic and Social Review*, 21, 209-226.
- SIEBERT, W.S and P.J SLOANE, 1981. "The Measurement of Sex and Marital Status Discrimination at the Workplace", *Economica*, 48, 125-141.
- SMITH, J. and M. WARD, 1984. Women's Wages and Work in the Twentieth Century, Santa Monica: Rand.
- SORENSEN, E., 1987. "Effect of Comparable Worth Policies on Earnings", *Industrial Relations*, 26, 3, 227-239.
- STEWART, M., 1987. "Collective Bargaining Arrangements, Closed Shops and Relative Pay", *Economic Journal*, 97, 140-156.
- SWEDBERG, R, 1990. Economics and Sociology Redefining Their Boundaries: Conversations with Economists and Sociologists, Princeton: Princeton University Press.
- THUROW, L., 1975. Generating Inequality, New York: Basic Books.
- TOWNSHEND-SMITH, R., 1989. Sex Discrimination in Employment: Law, Practice and Policy, London: Sweet and Maxwell.
- WALSH, B.M. and B.J. WHELAN, 1976. "A Micro-Economic Study of Earnings in Ireland", *The Economic and Social Review*, 7, 199-207.
- WEISS, Y. and R. GRONAU, 1981. "Expected Interruptions in Labour Force Participation and Sex-Related Differences in Earnings Growth", *Review of Economic Studies*, 48, 607-619.
- WHELAN, B. J., 1979. "RANSAM: A Random Sample Design for Ireland", *The Economic and Social Review*, Vol. 10, No. 2, pp. 169-174.
- WRIGHT, R.E. and J.F. ERMISCH, 1991. "Gender Discrimination in the British Labour Market: A Reassessment", *Economic Journal*, 101, May, 508-522.
- ZABALZA, A., and J.L. ARRUFAT, 1982. "Wage Differentials between Married Men and Women in Great Britain: The Depreciation Effect of Non-Participation." Centre for Labour Economics, LSE, Working Paper No. 382.
- ZABALZA, A. and Z. TZANNATOS, 1985a. "The Effect of Britain's Anti-Discriminatory Legislation on Relative Pay and Employment" *Economic Journal*, 95, 679-699.
- ZABALZA, A. and Z. TZANNATOS, 1985b. Women and Equal Pay: The Effects of Legislation on Female Employment and Wages in Britain, Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.

THE ECONOMIC AND SOCIAL RESEARCH INSTITUTE

RECENT PUBLICATIONS BY STAFF MEMBERS

(All reports are published by the Institute except where otherwise stated)

General Research Series

The Utilisation and Financing of Health Services in Ireland (1991, Brian Nolan, Paper 155, IR£13.00).

- Review of the Irish Aquaculture Sector and Recommendations for its Development (1992, R. O'Connor, B.J. Whelan, J.A. Crutchfield with A.J. O'Sullivan, Paper 156, IR£15.00).
- Care Provision and Cost Measurement: Dependent Elderly People at Home and In Geriatric Hospitals (1992, J. Blackwell, E. O'Shea, G. Moane, P. Murray, Paper 157, IR£15.00).

Intersectoral Financial Flows in Ireland (1992, Patrick Honohan, Paper No. 158, IR£7.00).

Low Pay in Ireland (1993, Brian Nolan, Paper No. 159, IR£12.00).

- Alcohol Use in Ireland: Some Economic and Social Implications (1993, Denis Conniffe and Daniel McCoy, Paper 160, IR£12.00).
- Pathways to Adulthood in Ireland: Causes and Consequences of Success and Failure in Transitions Amongst Irish Youth (1993, D. F. Hannan, S. Ó Riain, Paper 161, IR£15.00).
- The Financial Assets of Households in Ireland (1993, Patrick Honohan and Brian Nolan, Paper No. 162, £12.00).
- Male-Female Wage Differentials: Analysis and Policy Issues (1994, Tim Callan and Anne Wren, Paper 163, IR£12.00).

Broadsheet Series

- An Overview of Civil Service Computerisation, 1960-1990 (1992, Robert Pye, Paper 26, IR£10.00).
- The Pilot Programme for Integrated Rural Development 1988-90 (1992, Eoin O'Malley, Paper 27, IR£10.00).
- Family Problems Substitute Care: Children in Care and Their Families (1993, Kathleen O'Higgins, Paper 28, IR£10.00).
- Lone Parents in the Republic of Ireland: Enumeration, Description and Implications for Social Security (1993, A. McCashin, Paper 29, IR£10.00).

Policy Research Series

Property Tax: Principles and Policy Options (1991, Tim Callan, Paper 12, IR£7.00).

- The Role of the Structural Funds: Analysis of Consequences for Ireland in the Context of 1992 (1992, John Bradley, J. Fitz Gerald, I. Kearney, G. Boyle, R. Breen, S. Shortall, J. Durkan, A. Reynolds-Feighan, E. O'Malley, Paper 13, IR£10.00).
- The Economic Effects of Carbon Taxes (1992, John Fitz Gerald and Daniel McCoy (eds.), Paper 14, IR£8.00).
- European Community Lending and the Structural Funds (1992, Patrick Honohan, Paper 15, IR£7.00).
- Integration, Federalism and Cohesion in the European Community: Lessons from Canada (1993, J. Frank Strain, Paper 16, IR£8.00).

Ireland and Europe: Challenges for a New Century (1993, Rory O'Donnell, Paper 17, IR£8.00).

An Examination of Irish Currency Policy (1993, Patrick Honohan, Paper 18, IR£8.00).

- Charging for Public Health Services in Ireland: Why and How? (1993, Brian Nolan, Paper 19, IR£8.00).
- Issues in Irish Energy Policy (1993, John Fitz Gerald and Daniel McCoy (eds.), Paper 20, IR£8.00).

Medium-Term Review

Medium-Term Review: 1991-1996 (1991, J. Bradley, J. Fitz Gerald, D. McCoy, No. 4, IR£25.00).

A COMPLETE LIST OF PUBLICATIONS IS AVAILABLE FROM THE INSTITUTE

Printed by Argus Press Limited, Malpas Street, Dublin 8.